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        1                     P R O C E E D I N G S

        2                    Thursday, March 18, 2010

        3                             - - -

        4                   MR. LITTS:  Good morning.  We are here to

        5      reconvene the hearing with regard to the proposed revocation

        6      of Pocono Mountain Charter School.  This hearing was

        7      previously scheduled and Miss Schurdak has provided, I

        8      believe, myself and opposing counsel with a copy of Joint

        9      Exhibit 35.  Miss Schurdak, do you want to state anything
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       10      with regard to the exhibit?

       11                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Yes.  J-35 is public notice

       12      that was advertised in the Pocono Record of not only today's

       13      hearing, but tomorrow's hearing, as well as March 29th, all

       14      beginning at 10:00 a.m. in the administration building and

       15      I'm, therefore, moving J-35 into evidence.

       16                   MR. LITTS:  Any objection to J-35?

       17                   MR. FENNICK:  No.

       18                   MR. LITTS:  Hearing none, it's accepted.

       19                   (PUBLIC NOTICE marked for identification and

       20      admitted as Joint Exhibit No. 35.)

       21                   MR. LITTS:  I just want to remind counsel on

       22      the record.  I know there have been some discussions outside

       23      of the hearing about potentially adding another date and,

       24      so, if we can talk during the lunch hour about additional

       25      dates that would be helpful.
�
                                Levin - Voir Dire                     1195

        1                   With regards to today's proceeding, it's my

        2      understanding that the school district administration has

        3      rested and presented its case and at this point in time we

        4      will begin to hear from the charter school and, Mr, Anders,

        5      are you ready to proceed at this time?

        6                   MR. ANDERS:  Yes.

        7                   MR. LITTS:  You may call your first witness.

        8                              - - -

        9                   HARVEY M. LEVIN, having been duly sworn

       10      according to law, testified as follows:

       11      VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION BY MR. ANDERS:

       12             Q     Sir, would you state your name, please.

       13             A     Harvey M. Levin, L-e-v-i-n.

       14             Q     And what is your business address?

       15             A     100 South Independence Mall West, Philadelphia,
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       16      Pennsylvania, 19103.

       17                   MS. SCHURDAK:  If I may, I'm going to object

       18      to this witness testifying based upon the following:

       19                   Mr. Anders has produced an expert report.

       20      The expert report centers around Mr. Baxter's testimony and

       21      whether or not he should have been permitted to render an

       22      opinion.

       23                   It is my understanding from reading the record

       24      this objection was made by Mr. Anders at the time and he was

       25      overruled and, therefore, this is Mr. Anders' second
�
                                Levin - Voir Dire                     1196

        1      attempt, in essence, to get in evidence that was not

        2      permitted at the time of Mr. Baxter's testimony.

        3                   MR. ANDERS:  I certainly am allowed to

        4      contradict Mr. Baxter's testimony and ruling on an objection

        5      and calling a witness are two entirely different things,

        6      as Miss Schurdak is well aware.  If Mr. Baxter is not

        7      qualified, he's not qualified, and the board is entitled to

        8      take that into consideration in reaching their decision.

        9                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I'm going to overrule the

       10      objection.  This is the opportunity for the charter school

       11      to present evidence which it believes to be relevant for the

       12      determinations the school board will have to make.  It will

       13      ultimately have to be the school board's decision to decide

       14      relevancy of weight and, therefore, I do believe it's

       15      appropriate to give the charter school the opportunity to

       16      present some evidence.

       17                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Will you just note my continuing

       18      objection for the record?

       19                   MR. LITTS:  It is noted for the record and,

       20      Mr. Anders, you may proceed with your direct.
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       21                   MR. ANDERS:  Thank you.

       22             Q     What is your profession, sir?

       23             A     I'm a real estate appraiser.

       24             Q     And are you licensed and certified?

       25             A     I am.  I'm a licensed real estate appraiser in
�
                                Levin - Voir Dire                     1197

        1      the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and a real estate broker in

        2      the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

        3             Q     And how long have you been licensed?

        4             A     Since about 1967.

        5             Q     Now, at my request, and I'm going to get back

        6      to your qualifications, did you review the testimony of

        7      Michael Baxter?

        8             A     I did.

        9             Q     And based upon that review and your experience

       10      did you prepare a report?

       11             A     I did.

       12                   (APPRAISAL REPORT marked for identification as

       13      Charter School Exhibit No. 11.)

       14             Q     And I'm going to show you what I have marked --

       15      what has been marked as Charter School Exhibit No. 11.  Is

       16      that the report, sir?

       17             A     Yes, it is.

       18             Q     And is there an addendum to that report?

       19             A     There is, yes.

       20             Q     And does the addendum set forth your

       21      qualifications?

       22             A     It does, yes.

       23             Q     Without going through them line by line could

       24      you give us a brief summary of your experience and knowledge

       25      in the field of appraisals?
�
                                  Levin - Direct                      1198
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        1                   MS. SCHURDAK:  If he's being offered as an

        2      expert in the field of real estate appraising I'll stipulate

        3      to that, Mr. Anders, to help expedite things.

        4                   MR. ANDERS:  Thank you.

        5                             - - -

        6      DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ANDERS:

        7             Q     Sir, did I engage you for purposes of these

        8      proceedings?

        9             A     You did.

       10             Q     And for what -- when did I do that?

       11             A     You initially engaged me in October of 2009,

       12      towards the end of the month.

       13             Q     And for what purpose did I engage you?

       14             A     You engaged me for the purpose of opining as to

       15      whether or not Michael J. Baxter in performing specific

       16      services, specifically opining as to the value of real

       17      estate and a review appraisal, whether or not he acted --

       18      whether or not he acted in accordance with applicable law

       19      and statutes in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

       20             Q     And what did you do to prepare to render an

       21      opinion in that regard?

       22             A     I reviewed Mr. Baxter's report, I reviewed the

       23      appraisal report that he reviewed prepared by

       24      Miss Spitzfaden, I reviewed the Real Estate Appraisal --

       25      Appraising -- Licensure and Appraising Act, the rules and
�
                                  Levin - Direct                      1199

        1      regulations of the State Board of Certified Appraisers,

        2      the rules and regulations of the Real Estate Commission,

        3      the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice,

        4      and I had discussions with other persons in the field

        5      including -- who would have knowledge of the subject
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18MR10A1
        6      including real estate educators, attorneys, and members of

        7      the -- both the Certified Board of Real Estate Appraisers,

        8      and state real estate commission.

        9             Q     Sir, based upon your experience do you have an

       10      opinion within a reasonable degree of appraisal certainty as

       11      to whether or not Mr. Baxter testified as an appraiser at

       12      the hearing before this board?

       13                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm going to object as this is a

       14      legal issue.

       15                   MR. ANDERS:  It's not a legal issue.

       16                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Yes, it is.

       17                   MR. ANDERS:  No, it's not.

       18                   MS. SCHURDAK:  This witness has been qualified

       19      as an expert in the field of real estate appraising and only

       20      appraising.  He is, by his own admission, not a licensed

       21      attorney.

       22                   MR. ANDERS:  Now, I sat here and listened to

       23      this nonsense for about four days of hearing.  He is

       24      qualified as an appraiser to make a determination whether

       25      somebody is testifying as an appraiser.  I don't know who
�
                                  Levin - Direct                      1200

        1      else would be qualified to do that except an appraiser.

        2                   MR. LITTS:  Well, sir, no question to you at

        3      this point.

        4                   I'm going to overrule the objection and let me

        5      just say something for the record.  I realize, again, it's

        6      contentious, but if we could refrain from using certain

        7      words about nonsense I'd appreciate that and I do believe it

        8      is relevant.  This man has been stipulated to be an expert.

        9      He can clearly testify in his professional opinion as to

       10      what the procedures and protocols as to that and whether in

       11      his personal opinion they have been followed or not and,
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       12      again, the board will ultimately decide what relevance this

       13      testimony will be.

       14                   So, the objection is overruled, it's noted for

       15      the record, and, Mr. Anders, it may be better just to ask

       16      your question.

       17                   MR. ANDERS:  I actually was going to say do you

       18      want me to --

       19             A     Actually, I didn't get a chance to complete my

       20      qualifications.  I also --

       21                   MR. LITTS:  They've been stipulated to, sir,

       22      so there is no need to.

       23             Q     Sir, based upon your experience do you have an

       24      opinion within a reasonable degree of appraisal certainty as

       25      to whether Mr. Baxter testified as an appraiser during this
�
                                  Levin - Direct                      1201

        1      proceeding?

        2             A     I do.  I believe Mr. Baxter testified as an

        3      appraiser and as a review appraiser.

        4             Q     And why do you say that?

        5             A     Well, based on my 11 years as a member of the

        6      state real estate commission, including seven years as

        7      chairman of that commission, I am well familiar with the

        8      rules and regulations and statutes governing appraisers and

        9      brokers and appraisal services in the Commonwealth.

       10                   In addition, in the late '80s, early '90s when

       11      as a result of the savings and loan crisis every state was

       12      mandated by the federal government to set up a separate

       13      regulatory agency to regulate real estate appraisal activity

       14      I was chairman of the real estate commission instrumental in

       15      drafting that ledge legislation and, in fact, I represented

       16      the Commonwealth to the subcommittee in Washington that was
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       17      drafting that federal legislation.

       18                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Mr. Litts, I'm not sure this is

       19      responsive to Mr. Anders' question.  It seems like he's just

       20      back door in his qualification.

       21                   MR. LITTS:  I'm going to overrule the objection

       22      and I will just remind the witness that if you could please

       23      just answer Mr. Anders' questions as succinctly as possible

       24      without trying to prevent you from answering.

       25             Q     I think, sir, you answered probably my next
�
                                  Levin - Direct                      1202

        1      question as to whether or not Mr. -- you have an opinion

        2      based upon your experience within a reasonable degree of

        3      appraisal certainty as to whether Mr. Baxter testified as a

        4      review appraiser in this proceeding.

        5             A     I do.

        6             Q     And what is that opinion?

        7             A     I believe the answer to that is yes, Mr. Baxter

        8      testified as both a real estate appraiser and a real estate

        9      review appraiser.

       10             Q     Do you have an opinion within a reasonable

       11      degree of appraisal certainty as to whether Mr. Baxter is a

       12      licensed appraiser able to offer appraisal, review appraisal

       13      opinions?

       14             A     I do.  Mr. Baxter is not a licensed appraiser.

       15             Q     And why do you say that?

       16             A     He does not hold an appraiser's license,

       17      either broker appraiser, state certified general or state

       18      certified real estate appraiser.  The license that he does

       19      hold does not permit appraisal services, either real estate

       20      appraising or review appraising.

       21             Q     And what act governs licensing of appraisers?

       22                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm noting for the record the
Page 9
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       23      witness is referring to some written document.  I'm not sure

       24      if he has an independent recollection, but I would like to

       25      see -- well, there are some white pages.
�
                                  Levin - Direct                      1203

        1                   MR. ANDERS:  It's his report.

        2                   MS. SCHURDAK:  May I see it?  Thank you.

        3             Q     Before we were interrupted, I asked you what

        4      act governs the licensure of appraisers.

        5             A     Actually, Title 49, Professional and Vocational

        6      Standards, and that would be the enabling act for the state

        7      board of certified appraisers.

        8             Q     Sir, do you have an opinion within a reasonable

        9      degree of appraisal certainty as to whether Mr. Baxter in

       10      testifying before this board violated the act you just

       11      referred to in testifying as -- in testifying as an

       12      appraiser?

       13                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Again, this is a legal issue.

       14                   MR. ANDERS:  It's not a legal issue.

       15                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Yes, it is.  Did he violate?

       16                   MR. ANDERS:  It's not a legal issue.  He is

       17      certified as an appraiser.  He knows the rules and

       18      regulations.

       19                   MR. LITTS:  Well, whether it's a legal issue or

       20      not, this person can have an opinion and I'm going to

       21      overrule the objection, allow him to testify to it, and for

       22      the third time I'm going to state for the record that with

       23      regards to this testimony or the testimony of Mr. Baxter or

       24      the other purported experts or non experts that have been

       25      offered to date and will be offered in the future the
�
                                  Levin - Direct                      1204

        1      board's going to give it what credibility it believes it can
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        2      give it.

        3                   So, I'm going to try to give the same latitude

        4      to Mr. Anders that I gave to Miss Schurdak.  So, I will

        5      allow the question to be answered.

        6             Q     I realize we stipulated to your qualifications,

        7      but in light of that last objection do you teach?  Do you

        8      teach courses?

        9             A     I do.

       10             Q     Have you taught courses for the Pennsylvania

       11      Bar Institute?

       12             A     Yes, sir.

       13             Q     And, again, I'll ask you the question again.

       14      Do you have an opinion based upon your experience and within

       15      a reasonable degree of appraisal certainty as to whether Mr.

       16      Baxter in testifying before this board violated the act you

       17      just referred to in testifying as an appraiser as you

       18      previously indicated?

       19             A     Yes, I do.  I believe Mr. Baxter violated the

       20      act.

       21             Q     And we previously referred to your report.

       22      I believe it's marked as Charter School No. 11.  For

       23      purposes of the record is that, again, the report that you

       24      prepared?

       25             A     I did.
�
                                  Levin - Direct                      1205

        1                   MR. ANDERS:  I move for the admission of

        2      Charter School No. 11.

        3                   MR. LITTS:  Any objection?

        4                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Well, I have an objection based

        5      on the objections I made earlier on the record as to this

        6      witness being allowed to testify.

        7                   MR. LITTS:  But other than that, which we noted
Page 11
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        8      for the record, do you have any additional objection?

        9                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Without waiving the previous

       10      objections, no.  You've allowed expert reports in throughout

       11      the proceeding.

       12                   MR. LITTS:  So, with that I'm going to allow

       13      Charter School 11 to come in.  Have you completed your

       14      direct examination, Mr. Anders?

       15                   MR. ANDERS:  Cross examine.

       16                             - - -

       17      CROSS EXAMINATION BY MS. SCHURDAK:

       18             Q     Good morning, Mr. Levin.  I'm Ellen Schurdak.

       19      How much have you charged for this report?

       20             A     My fee for rendering a report was $5,000.00.

       21      I'm being paid today on an hourly basis for expert

       22      testimony.

       23             Q     And what is your per diem for today's

       24      testimony?

       25             A     $350.00 an hour.
�
                                  Levin - Direct                      1206

        1             Q     And do you have a minimum that you're charging

        2      for today; in other words, a half day?

        3             A     I'll charge a half a day minimum, yes.

        4             Q     And that's 350 times how many hours is your

        5      requirement?

        6             A     I would charge for the full day because of

        7      travel time.

        8             Q     Is that 8 hours or 10 hours?

        9             A     Yes, ma'am.

       10             Q     Which?

       11             A     Yes, ma'am.

       12             Q     Is it 8 hours or 10 hours that you're charging?
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       13             A     8 hours.

       14             Q     Now, there's nothing in your report that says

       15      Mr. Baxter was wrong in his valuations, is there?

       16             A     I didn't get into valuation in terms of his

       17      opinion of fair rental value.  I did not look at that issue.

       18      My issue was whether or not he was -- used unlicensed

       19      activity.

       20             Q     And, certainly, a landowner is able to testify

       21      as to his or her belief as to valuations of real estate.

       22      Correct?

       23             A     I'm sorry, say that again?

       24             Q     A landowner is deemed qualified to testify as

       25      to his or her --
�
                                  Levin - Cross                       1207

        1                   MR. ANDERS:  Objection to the form of the

        2      question.  Landowners aren't qualified to give an opinion.

        3      They can give an opinion without being qualified.

        4                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm not sure ....

        5                   MR. LITTS:  Why don't you just rephrase --

        6      withdraw the question and try to rephrase it.

        7             Q     There are exceptions within the law as to who

        8      can give opinions as to the valuation of property, aren't

        9      there?

       10             A     I don't believe so.  I think people that

       11      give -- experts that give opinions of value have to be

       12      licensed.  Can a property owner in a condemnation hearing,

       13      for example, give his or her opinion as to market value?

       14      Of course.  That's not an expert opinion, though.

       15             Q     You mentioned condemnation proceedings.  You

       16      don't have to be a landowner to give an opinion as to

       17      valuation in condemnation proceedings.  Correct, sir?

       18             A     You do not have to be a landowner, but to be --
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       19      to give an opinion of value as an expert in the Commonwealth

       20      of Pennsylvania an individual needs to be licensed.

       21             Q     Are you familiar with the case of West Penn

       22      Power Company?

       23             A     I am not.

       24             Q     You are not.  You're not familiar with the

       25      Commonwealth Court stating that it was not unlawful for a
�
                                  Levin - Cross                       1208

        1      person who lacked a real estate appraiser license to perform

        2      a real estate appraisal?

        3                   MR. ANDERS:  Objection.  That is a total

        4      mischaracterization of this case.  If you want to point

        5      something out to the witness, that's fine.

        6                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Well, let's read Holdings.

        7             Q     What does No. 1 say, sir?

        8             A     Well, I didn't get a chance to answer the first

        9      question.

       10             Q     I moved on to the second question.

       11                   MR. LITTS:  Why don't we take a timeout here

       12      for a second?  Again, I want to try to keep the level of

       13      civility that we've strived for throughout the proceedings

       14      and I think, for the most part, Counsel have done this.

       15                   Just for purposes of the record, Miss Schurdak

       16      has presented a copy of a court decision, King versus West

       17      Penn Power Company, the citation being 946 A.2d. Reporter,

       18      Page 184, 2008, with a Commonwealth Court decision.

       19                   You asked the question whether or not the

       20      witness was familiar with this case and I heard the witness

       21      say he was not familiar with this case.  Now, sir, have you

       22      a copy of that case now?

       23             A     I do now.
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       24                   MR. LITTS:  And I'd like to have -- give the

       25      witness an opportunity to take a look at that case and I
�
                                  Levin - Cross                       1209

        1      know he stated he wasn't permitted to answer a question.

        2      What was the question that you believe you weren't permitted

        3      to answer, sir?

        4             A     The question was, was I familiar with the case

        5      and then Counsel alluded to, I think, Holding No. 1 where it

        6      says it's not unlawful for a person who lacked a real estate

        7      appraiser's license to perform a real estate appraisal in

        8      connection with a condemnation proceeding.  However --

        9                   MR. LITTS:  Okay, hold up.

       10             A     -- Item 2 says, "Landowner's testimony with

       11      respect to the highest and best use of the property is

       12      relevant."  This case deals with the landowner, not an

       13      expert, not a real estate appraiser or broker or real estate

       14      manager testifying as an expert.  This is the property

       15      owner.  The property owner is not considered an expert.

       16                   MR. LITTS:  Miss Schurdak, you can ask your

       17      next question.

       18             Q     Sir, on Page 5 of the document in the Court's

       19      decision the Court opines, does it not -- and this is, I

       20      would say, on the bottom third full paragraph, "Indeed, it

       21      makes no sense to require that qualified valuation experts

       22      in condemnation proceedings possess real estate appraiser

       23      licenses."  Did I read that correctly?

       24             A     I'm sorry, I don't know where you're reading

       25      from.
�
                                  Levin - Cross                       1210

        1             Q     From the case of Commonwealth v. West Penn

        2      Power Company.  I went to Page 5 of the document which is

        3      this one and then I read ... do you want me to reread it
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        4      or ...?

        5             A     The question is?

        6             Q     Did I read that correctly?

        7             A     I see where you just read from, yes.  And,

        8      clearly, it says a condemnee is a qualified valuation

        9      expert --

       10             Q     There's no question before you, sir.

       11             A     -- automatically without any further

       12      qualification --

       13             Q     Sir, there's no question before you.

       14                   MR. ANDERS:  Excuse me.

       15                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Anders, you can sit down.

       16      You did place a question before the witness with regards

       17      to ....

       18                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Did I read it correctly.

       19                   MR. LITTS:  Did you read it correctly.

       20                   MS. SCHURDAK:  And he said yes.

       21                   MR. LITTS:  And, Mr. Anders, you'll have the

       22      opportunity for redirect.  And just for purposes of the

       23      record, we're referring to Page No. -- it's a page number of

       24      the Westlaw printout which appears to me, and Counsel

       25      correct me if I'm wrong on this, 946 A.2nd. at Page 188 of
�
                                  Levin - Cross                       1211

        1      the official reporter that you're referring to right now,

        2      Miss Schurdak.

        3                   MS. SCHURDAK:  That's correct.

        4                   MR. LITTS:  Okay.  And, again, I just want to

        5      remind everyone there's an opportunity for cross, sir.

        6      Attorney Anders will have an opportunity, if he wishes, to

        7      do redirect.  So, if we can just respond to the question

        8      that would be appreciated.
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18MR10A1
        9                   Miss Schurdak, you asked -- you read it

       10      correctly.  Do you have another question?

       11                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I have no further questions,

       12      but I would move for the admission into evidence the case

       13      which I believe would be School District No. 46.

       14                   MR. ANDERS:  I have no objection.  It is what

       15      it is.

       16                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Anders, you can redirect.

       17                   (CASE LAW marked for identification and

       18      admitted as School District Exhibit No. 46.)

       19                             - - -

       20      REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ANDERS:

       21             Q     Ms. Schurdak read to you part of the paragraph

       22      on Page 5, but she didn't bother to read the entire

       23      paragraph.  If you would read for me, sir, the last sentence

       24      beginning "Moreover ...."

       25             A     "Moreover, we note that under Section 704 of
�
                              Levin - Redirect/Litts                  1212

        1      the Code a condemnee is a qualified evaluation expert

        2      automatically without any further qualifications."

        3             Q     And what is -- who is the condemnee?

        4             A     The condemnee is the individual or entity whose

        5      property is being condemned.

        6             Q     And that would be the property owner?

        7             A     Property owner, yes.

        8                   MR. ANDERS:  That's all I have.

        9                             - - -

       10      BY MR. LITTS:

       11             Q     Sir, if I could ask two questions of you.

       12      First off, I am assuming, maybe incorrectly, you're not an

       13      attorney.  Is that correct?

       14             A     I am not an attorney; no, sir.
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       15             Q     The second question is during your testimony

       16      you used the term of opinion.  I'm gathering from your

       17      testimony that is a term of art that has a very specific

       18      meaning to you professionally.

       19             A     Well, it's clear to me, it's a conclusion or an

       20      opinion, that there was a violation of the statute.

       21             Q     And that's why I'm asking the question.

       22             A     Yes, sir.

       23             Q     So, let me phrase it this way just so I have an

       24      understanding.  Any of us up front here could be driving

       25      around the neighborhood and interested in purchasing a new
�
                             Levin - Litts/Bockelman                  1213

        1      home and we could look at the home and we could say, "Gee,

        2      in my opinion the home is worth x-dollars," and in the

        3      context of me using that term, the word opinion, I'm

        4      assuming that's not what you're talking about with regard

        5      to the violation of the statute.

        6             A     No, sir, not in this case.  You had a licensed

        7      real estate broker acting outside the scope of what that

        8      license permits that individual to do.

        9             Q     And I just want to make sure I understood the

       10      context of your testimony.  Thank you.  A couple other

       11      questions from the board.

       12                             - - -

       13      BY MR. BOCKELMAN:

       14             Q     Sir, when I hear the word appraisal I'm -- in

       15      my mind I'm thinking of the value of property for sale.  Is

       16      that a correct assumption on my part?

       17             A     Yes, that is correct.

       18             Q     Okay.  And the other question is what is a

       19      review appraisal or -- there was a phrase used, review
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       20      appraisal.

       21             A     Right.  To be more specific, Mr. Baxter opined

       22      on market rent which, of course, is an expression of value

       23      for the right to use the property.  Mr. Baxter also in the

       24      notes of testimony performed an appraisal review of

       25      Miss Spitzfaden's report where she was retained and rendered
�
                                Levin - Bockelman                     1214

        1      a report to opine on the rental value of the charter school.

        2      Mr. Baxter reviewed that report, says in his notes of

        3      testimony that he reviewed that report.  Once again, that's

        4      unlicensed activity.  His license as a broker does not

        5      permit that activity, to review someone's else's report.

        6             Q     So, what you're saying is an appraisal is done

        7      to determine rent also, is that what you're saying?

        8             A     Yes, sir, because market rent is a value.

        9             Q     I just was not clear on that because in my mind

       10      an appraisal is the value of property for sale.  I wasn't

       11      clear on that.

       12             A     Or the value of any interest in property

       13      including the use and occupancy.

       14                   MR. BOCKELMAN:  Thank you.

       15                   MR. ANDERS:  I have a couple follow-up

       16      questions.

       17                   MR. LITTS:  Sure.

       18                             - - -

       19      REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ANDERS:

       20             Q     I just want to clarify that board's question to

       21      you.  When someone expresses an opinion as to the value of

       22      market rent for a particular property is that testimony of

       23      an appraiser, it's an expert.

       24             A     That is an appraisal, yes, sir.

       25             Q     And one other thing just so the record is
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�
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        1      clear, you indicated that you taught PBI courses.  Does that

        2      mean teaching attorneys?

        3                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm going to object as to

        4      outside the scope of any of the questions from the board

        5      members.

        6                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I believe you already

        7      testified to this, so I'll overrule the objection.  The

        8      response was, sir, you have taught PBI courses.

        9                   MS. SCHURDAK:  It's also --

       10                   MR. LITTS:  Where attorneys were in attendance.

       11      Is that correct?

       12                   MR. ANDERS:  Yes.

       13                   MR. LITTS:  Miss Schurdak, any other questions

       14      based on the board's questions?

       15                   MS. SCHURDAK:  No, it would be redundant.

       16                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Anders, is there any need for

       17      this witness to --

       18                   MR. ANDERS:  The only thing I would ask Miss

       19      Schurdak is, because Mr. Levin asked me, if she intends to

       20      produce somebody to rebut his testimony we'd like to be put

       21      on notice so that Mr. Levin can be present.

       22                   MR. LITTS:  Well, you guys can work that out

       23      outside.

       24                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Certainly, I agree to that.

       25      I would have to give you an expert report.
�
                               Tierney - Voir Dire                    1216

        1                   MR. LITTS:  So, unless there is anything else I

        2      believe this witness may be excused.  Thank you, sir.

        3                   THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

        4                   MR. ANDERS:  I'll give you back CS-11.
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        5                   MR. LITTS:  Thank you.

        6                              - - -

        7                   THOMAS TIERNEY, having been duly sworn

        8      according to law, testified as follows:

        9      VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION BY MR. ANDERS:

       10             Q     Sir, would you state your name for the record,

       11      please?

       12             A     Thomas Tierney, T-i-e-r-n-e-y.

       13             Q     And what is your business address?

       14             A     1150 Glenwood Drive, Allentown, Pennsylvania,

       15      18106.

       16             Q     What is your profession?

       17             A     I'm a certified general real estate appraiser.

       18             Q     You'll have to keep your voice up so we can all

       19      hear you.

       20             A     I'm a certified general real estate appraiser.

       21             Q     And what is a certified general real estate

       22      appraiser?

       23             A     It's an appraiser that performs any type of

       24      real estate appraisal, specializing in commercial

       25      properties.
�
                               Tierney - Voir Dire                    1217

        1                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Mr. Anders, if I may put

        2      something on the record, I wasn't sure who your next witness

        3      would be, but now that I know I am asking that this witness

        4      not be permitted to testify because of the following.

        5                   I filed on behalf of the school district a

        6      Motion to Compel Discovery back in January of 2009.

        7      Marked as SD-10 is Judge Cheslock's decision granting the

        8      motion and compelling the charter school to produce the

        9      requested discovery materials.

       10                   Discovery material No. 58 requested any and all
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       11      expert reports.  This report was produced to me as counsel

       12      for the charter school -- for the school district in January

       13      of 2010.  It, however, contains a date of September 25th,

       14      2008, and clearly runs afoul of Judge Cheslock's order.

       15                   MR. ANDERS:  I thought the ruling that the

       16      hearing officer had made was that we had to give the expert

       17      reports like a week or 10 days -- I got Miss Schurdak's like

       18      four days before the hearing when their experts testified.

       19      She's had this since January.

       20                   MR. LITTS:  I'm going to overrule the

       21      objection.  It's noted for the record and let me say this.

       22      I believe I'm being consistent with my prior statements.

       23      With regards to any discovery that has been held under the

       24      auspices of the Monroe County Court of Common Pleas, if

       25      there's been non-compliance with the discovery request
�
                                 Tierney - Direct                     1218

        1      whether for production of documents, interrogatories, et

        2      cetera, any non-compliance should be addressed to the court.

        3                   I told both counsel previously that I'm not

        4      aware of any authority under the Charter School Law which

        5      allows for what I would call discovery that one would see in

        6      a civil proceeding.

        7                   Additionally, I accept Mr. Anders' statement

        8      that that report has been provided and it's been in the

        9      possession of Charter School's counsel for a reasonable

       10      period of time.  So, there wouldn't be any reason to

       11      foreclose this witness from testifying about the contents

       12      of the report.

       13                   So, again, if there's non-compliance with

       14      discovery take it up with Judge Cheslock.  Thank you.

       15                   MS. SCHURDAK:  And I am willing to stipulate
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       16      that he is an expert in the field of appraisal.

       17                   MR. ANDERS:  Thank you.

       18                             - - -

       19      DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ANDERS:

       20             Q     Sir, did I engage you to perform certain

       21      appraisal work in conjunction with the rental value of the

       22      Pocono Mountain Charter School?

       23             A     Yes.

       24             Q     And what was the purpose of your engagement?

       25             A     To determine a fair market rent for the charter
�
                                 Tierney - Direct                     1219

        1      school.

        2             Q     And did I, as part of your engagement, request

        3      that you analyze the terms and conditions of the lease

        4      agreement between the charter school and the church?

        5             A     Yes, I reviewed the lease agreement.

        6                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm sorry, can you keep your

        7      voice up?

        8             A     Yes, I did review the leases.

        9             Q     Now, for purposes of your testimony I would ask

       10      you to assume that there is a demand for a -- in the Pocono

       11      Mountain School District for a charter school.  Can you make

       12      that assumption?

       13             A     Yes.

       14             Q     And in order to reach an opinion of market rent

       15      for the charter school facility what did you do?

       16             A     Well, I looked at the rental -- well, first of

       17      all, I determined the highest and best use of the property.

       18      The property is a built-to-suit school facility.  That's how

       19      it was constructed and that's how I based my analysis.

       20                   I reviewed the leases of other charter schools

       21      and I compared the attributes of those charter schools with
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       22      the Pocono Mountain Charter School and that's how I

       23      determined the ....

       24             Q     I think you covered this, but just so it's

       25      clear, do you have an opinion within a reasonable degree of
�
                                 Tierney - Direct                     1220

        1      appraisal certainty as to what the highest and best use of

        2      the charter school is?

        3             A     Yes.

        4             Q     And what is that?

        5             A     As a school.

        6             Q     And, again, I think you covered this, but so

        7      we're clear, do you have an opinion within a reasonable

        8      degree of appraisal certainty as to whether the charter

        9      school is a built-to-suit structure?

       10             A     Yes, it is.

       11             Q     And what do you mean by a built-to-suit

       12      structure?

       13             A     It's a structure and property, in this case,

       14      that is constructed for a specific purpose and, in this

       15      case, as a school.  It's -- the other uses would be contrary

       16      to the highest and best use.

       17             Q     And what affect, if any, does that have on an

       18      appraisal of the market rent of the charter school facility?

       19             A     Well, the appraisal market rent would then be

       20      concentrated at reviewing leases of schools.

       21             Q     And when you say schools does that include

       22      commercial facilities?

       23             A     Well, you can look at a school that's located

       24      in a commercial facility, but that would not be truly

       25      comparable because it was not built to suit as a school,
�
                                 Tierney - Direct                     1221
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        1      it's being used for an alternate purpose.

        2             Q     And I think you said this.  As part of your

        3      background investigation did you review other charter school

        4      leases?

        5             A     Yes.

        6             Q     And were they -- where were those various

        7      charter schools located?

        8             A     They were located in the -- on a regional basis

        9      in Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and Maryland.

       10             Q     And why did you -- I mean, we know that when

       11      you do an appraisal normally you try to stay within a

       12      specific area and why did you expand the area for this

       13      particular endeavor?

       14             A     Well, there are not that many newly constructed

       15      or fairly newly constructed schools that are leased as

       16      charter schools.  Many of the charter schools that exist are

       17      in older buildings that were not constructed as schools and

       18      the facilities just were not sufficiently comparable to the

       19      subject.

       20             Q     So, in your opinion, then, based upon your

       21      experience you expanded the geographical area to

       22      encompass -- to obtain the comparables?

       23             A     Yes.

       24             Q     I almost forgot what a comparable was.  Based

       25      upon your experience, sir, and the analysis that you
�
                                 Tierney - Direct                     1222

        1      performed do you have an opinion within a reasonable degree

        2      of appraisal certainty as to the market rent for the charter

        3      school facility?

        4             A     Yes.

        5             Q     And what is that opinion?

        6             A     $14.50 per square foot on a triple net basis.
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        7             Q     What is -- for the purposes of the board what

        8      is a triple net basis?

        9             A     That would be where all expenses are paid by

       10      the tenant including real estate taxes, insurance,

       11      maintenance of the property.

       12             Q     And, again, you arrived at that opinion based

       13      upon your review of other charter schools and charter school

       14      leases?

       15             A     Yes.

       16             Q     I note that in your report you do cite some

       17      commercial type leases.  Is there a reason for that?

       18             A     Well, after I depict the leases of schools I do

       19      have office leases which are local, of newer office space

       20      solely to demonstrate that the -- that the current lease

       21      rate or the lease rate of $14.50 is within the spectrum of

       22      other commercial -- newer commercial properties.

       23                             - - -

       24                   (TIERNEY REPORT marked for identification as

       25      Charter School Exhibit No. 12.)
�
                                 Tierney - Direct                     1223

        1             Q     Now, sir, I'm going to show you what has been

        2      marked for identification as Charter School Exhibit No. 12.

        3      Is that the report that you prepared?

        4             A     Yes.

        5             Q     And is that the report that you prepared by

        6      based upon your experience and the analysis that you

        7      testified hereto?

        8             A     Yes.

        9                   MR. ANDERS:  I move for the admission of

       10      Charter School Exhibit No. 12.

       11                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Again, without waiving my

Page 26



18MR10A1
       12      previous objection I have no objection to the report coming

       13      in because expert reports have been coming in regularly in

       14      this proceeding.

       15                   MR. LITTS:  Charter School 12 will be admitted.

       16             Q     All right, let's look at Charter School Exhibit

       17      No. 12 and you have a copy there.

       18             A     Yes.

       19                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Marshall, do you have one with

       20      original photographs?  Just because it's hard to read.  And

       21      the legend.

       22                   MR. ANDERS:  You have what I have.

       23             A     When you say original photographs ....

       24                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Well, it's very difficult for me

       25      to read some of this stuff and I asked for --
�
                                 Tierney - Direct                     1224

        1             A     Well, I have a copy.  They are black and white

        2      photographs, even the copy I have.

        3                   MR. ANDERS:  This might be clearer.  Let the

        4      record reflect that --

        5                   MS. SCHURDAK:  They are clearer.  Okay.

        6             Q     Now, you take this one and I'll get my own

        7      copy.  Let's just briefly go through the report.  On Page 1

        8      and 2 you set forth the summary of important facts and

        9      conclusions, correct?

       10             A     Yes.

       11             Q     And what is the purpose of that?

       12             A     It's, really, just a summary of what is to be

       13      contained in the report.

       14             Q     And then on Page 1 -- Page 4, excuse me, you

       15      set forth the purpose of the market rent analysis?

       16             A     Yes.

       17             Q     And I want to note one issue here.  It says
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       18      economic rent and you have it defined.  Would you read what

       19      you have under that for me, please?

       20             A     "Economic rent in appraisal, a term sometimes

       21      used as a synonym for market rent."

       22             Q     And what does that mean?

       23             A     What does market rent --

       24             Q     No, what is a syn ...?

       25             A     A synonym?
�
                                 Tierney - Direct                     1225

        1             Q     Yeah.

        2             A     Usually it means used interchangeably.

        3             Q     Okay.  And then you defined market rent for us?

        4             A     Yes.

        5             Q     On Page 6 you set forth the scope of the

        6      analysis?

        7             A     Yes.

        8             Q     Page 9 indicates property identification and

        9      sales history.  What is the purpose of that portion of the

       10      report?

       11             A     Well, it's a USPAP requirement.  It's a

       12      requirement for all appraisals to identify the property and

       13      identify prior sales within the past three years and -- if

       14      any and to identify any encumbrances on the property as they

       15      affect value.

       16             Q     And on Page 27 you set forth the highest and

       17      best use?

       18             A     Yes.

       19             Q     And is that in accordance were what you

       20      previously testified to?

       21             A     Yes.

       22             Q     Now, you indicated that you used -- analyzed,
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       23      excuse me, various charter school leases?

       24             A     Yes.

       25             Q     Could you tell the board looking at your report
�
                              Tierney - Direct/Cross                  1226

        1      how many charter schools are included in that analysis?

        2             A     Well, there's several different schools that

        3      are in the analysis, but I think that we have -- some are

        4      not charter schools but schools of other types.

        5             Q     But they are comparable school leases?

        6             A     Yes, they are comparable school leases.

        7             Q     And the summary of the comparable school

        8      leases, that's set forth on Pages 30 through 35, 36, 38 of

        9      the report?

       10             A     Yes, through 39.

       11                   MR. ANDERS:  Thank you.  Cross examine.

       12                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Thank you.

       13                             - - -

       14      CROSS EXAMINATION BY MS. SCHURDAK:

       15             Q     Good morning.  My name is Ellen Schurdak.  I

       16      think we share something in common.  We're both from the

       17      Lehigh Valley.  Okay?  How much was charged for the

       18      preparation of this report?

       19             A     That was 1500.

       20             Q     And for your testimony here today, what are you

       21      charging?

       22             A     We charge $225.00 per hour and 800 per diem.

       23             Q     Are you charging a half day for today's

       24      testimony?

       25             A     I don't set the rates, the owner of the company
�
                                 Tierney - Cross                      1227

        1      sets the rates, but I believe it's a minimum per diem charge

        2      of 800.
Page 29



18MR10A1

        3             Q     Of 800, okay.  Now, this report you have gone

        4      over carefully before giving it to your client, the charter

        5      school, correct?

        6             A     Yes.

        7             Q     And Mr. Anders asked you questions about what

        8      you reviewed and you said leases.  Can you tell me which

        9      leases you reviewed with respect to the charter school?

       10             A     Which of these leases?

       11             Q     Which -- I'm sorry, when I refer to the charter

       12      school I'm referring to the Pocono Mountain Charter School.

       13      So, what leases relating to the Pocono Mountain Charter

       14      School did you review?

       15             A     They gave me a master lease agreement and some

       16      addendums.

       17             Q     And what addendums?  Well, do you have the

       18      second amendment?

       19             A     I did get a second amendment.

       20             Q     You did not or did?

       21             A     I believe I did.  I think the second

       22      amendment -- was that for the expansion?

       23             Q     Yes.  I guess I'm asking you what lease

       24      agreements you reviewed prior to rendering an opinion.

       25             A     Well, I see here the master lease agreement and
�
                                 Tierney - Cross                      1228

        1      I know that there were amendments.  I don't know if they are

        2      in this file, though.

        3             Q     Well, if you look at School District No. 1,

        4      which would be Tab 13 in the rather voluminous books in

        5      front of you, let's start with that.  Maybe that's an easier

        6      way.  Is this the master lease?

        7             A     Yes.
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        8             Q     You reviewed?

        9             A     Yes.

       10             Q     And that master lease was actually signed in

       11      2007, was it not?

       12             A     Yes, it says -- it would be July of 2007.

       13             Q     And yet in your report generated for the

       14      hearing today you gave a valuation date as of

       15      September 2008, did you not?

       16             A     Yes.

       17             Q     A lot can happen in the real estate world in a

       18      year, can't it?

       19             A     Certainly.

       20             Q     Now, on Page 2 of your report you said that you

       21      didn't inspect the entire facility.

       22             A     That's right.

       23             Q     Why not?

       24             A     Well, generally we don't inspect the entirety

       25      of a large facility, we're just looking to see -- get an
�
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        1      impression of how it's constructed, what the level of finish

        2      is.

        3             Q     When you say we who are you preferring to?

        4             A     Appraisers in general.  I don't think that any

        5      appraiser inspects 100 percent of a building.  For example,

        6      an apartment complex where there's 150 units they may

        7      inspect a sample of 10.

        8             Q     Did you sample the older portion of the

        9      building?

       10             A     I believe I was in both portions.

       11             Q     You believe.  Are you sure?

       12             A     I was in most of the first level.  So, if the

       13      older section has a first level then I was in there.
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       14             Q     Well, according to your report "At the request

       15      of the client, we were instructed to provide an estimate of

       16      the fair market rental rates with the subject property's

       17      improvements --"

       18                   MR. ANDERS:  Can we have a page, please?

       19             Q     I'm sorry, on Page 2.  Is that correct?

       20             A     Yes.

       21             Q     Now, this is an unusual building, is it not?

       22             A     Well, it's unusual in the sense that there

       23      aren't that many schools and it's a school.

       24             Q     Well, sir, it's unique in the sense that a

       25      church is attached to it, isn't it?
�
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        1             A     Well, I mean, that would be unique as far as

        2      schools go, but some schools have gyms attached to them,

        3      some don't.

        4             Q     You don't see a difference between a church

        5      being attached to a school and a gym being attached to a

        6      school?  In terms of appraising and marketability.

        7             A     There may or may not be.  I mean, it depends on

        8      what would the alternate uses of the church be.

        9             Q     And, in fact, sir, since you've been in this

       10      space you share a common entranceway with the church with

       11      this building, do you not?

       12             A     Yes.

       13             Q     I'm sorry, you have to say yes or no for the

       14      record.

       15             A     Yes.

       16             Q     And, again, that aspect adds to the uniqueness

       17      of this property, doesn't it?

       18             A     Well, it -- not necessarily.  I mean, it's part
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       19      of the building and a tenant can use space if it were leased

       20      and they could use it as they wished.

       21             Q     So, you don't see the fact that one shares some

       22      degree of space with a church as affecting the marketability

       23      of that space?

       24             A     I think -- I think that it may affect

       25      marketability and it may not.  I think that there are ways
�
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        1      to separate spaces in a building that ....

        2             Q     It's true, is it not, that none of your comps

        3      have a church attached to the property that you're comparing

        4      it to.

        5             A     Well, none of them have a church attached to

        6      it, but some are part of other buildings.

        7             Q     Okay.  The question is a church.

        8             A     No.

        9             Q     In terms of your process did you review the

       10      lease agreements first and then go out to the property?

       11             A     Yes, I did.

       12             Q     Then you went out to the property and that's --

       13      then you did your comp work and came up with an opinion.

       14      Is that sort of the process?

       15             A     Yes, generally.

       16             Q     Do you think it would have been a better method

       17      to have come up with a fair market rental value without

       18      looking at your client's master lease agreement first?

       19             A     I think that it really in this case doesn't

       20      make much of a difference.

       21             Q     But you were aware before you ever rendered an

       22      opinion of what your client was paying to the church in

       23      terms of rent, were you not?

       24             A     Yes.
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       25             Q     I think, and hopefully I'm right on this, if
�
                                 Tierney - Cross                      1232

        1      you go to School District -- or Tab 14 you should get into

        2      some other lease agreements.  Now, you said this is a triple

        3      net lease, but, in fact, sir, there are no property taxes

        4      that anyone's paying in this case, correct?

        5             A     Well --

        6                   MR. ANDERS:  Objection.  I don't think he

        7      testified that this was a triple net lease, he testified

        8      that in his opinion the rent would be $14.00 a square foot

        9      on a triple net basis.

       10             Q     Okay.

       11                   MR. LITTS:  Your recollection is correct,

       12      Mr. Anders.

       13                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Let me rephrase.  I believe

       14      Mr. Anders is right as well.

       15             Q     On a triple net basis -- and that's taking into

       16      account the tenant paying taxes, correct?

       17             A     Right.

       18             Q     The tenant's not paying taxes in this case,

       19      is it?

       20             A     In this case it's not, but --

       21             Q     And the landlord is not paying taxes either.

       22                   MR. ANDERS:  Excuse me.  Can he finish the

       23      answer, please?

       24             A     But a triple net lease doesn't insist that the

       25      tenant pay expenses that don't exist.  If there are no real
�
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        1      estate taxes they don't need to pay real estate taxes.

        2      They can only pay what there is to pay.

        3             Q     And that's my point.  The landlord is not
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        4      paying real estate taxes, either.  Correct?

        5             A     Correct.

        6             Q     Now, you requested from your client that your

        7      client provide you with site or architectural plans and that

        8      was not provided to you; is that correct?

        9             A     No, no.

       10             Q     No, I'm wrong?

       11             A     No, they were not provided, just a small

       12      outline of the buildings.

       13             Q     Now, in your report as well you define the term

       14      arm's length transaction on Page 5 and an arm's length

       15      transaction is a transaction between unrelated parties under

       16      no duress.  Is that correct?

       17             A     That's correct.

       18             Q     And yet in your report you conclude, I believe,

       19      that this transaction between landlord and tenant is not an

       20      arm's length transaction.

       21                   MR. ANDERS:  Can we have a page, please?

       22             A     Page 9, I believe.  Yes, that's true.

       23             Q     And why do you conclude that, sir?

       24             A     Looking at the leases it appears that the --

       25      both entities are related.  So, we concluded that it is not
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        1      an arm's length transaction, so the terms of the lease

        2      really didn't affect the conclusion of market rent.

        3             Q     And when you say we is it that the co-author,

        4      Mr. Moyer, also agreed with you that this was not an arm's

        5      length transaction between the church and the charter

        6      school?

        7             A     Yes.

        8             Q     And what was the relationship that you were

        9      concerned about that you concluded that it wasn't an arm's
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       10      length transaction?

       11             A     The relationship -- it appears that both

       12      entities signing the lease involved the same people.

       13             Q     And that's Pastor Bloom, is that what you're

       14      getting at, sir?

       15             A     Well, yes.

       16             Q     Did --

       17             A     Yes.

       18             Q     Okay.  Now, it's important to know before one

       19      renders an opinion as to fair market rental value who paid

       20      for the outfitting of the space that's being rented, isn't

       21      it?

       22             A     Well, only if it hasn't been outfitted yet.

       23      After it's been outfitted the assumption is as of -- as of

       24      the date of the appraisal if it's already been outfitted

       25      there's no reason to consider cost to outfit.
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        1             Q     Well, let me back up for a second and give you

        2      a hypothetical, okay?  I'm the tenant and I sign a lease

        3      with the landlord for 10 years.

        4             A     Yes.

        5             Q     The space is just a shell, all it has is a

        6      frame, that's it.  The landlord says to me, "Okay, Ellen,

        7      because you signed a 10 year lease I'm going to give you

        8      $500,000.00 and you get to outfit it the way you want."

        9      You would expect my lease agreement to reflect in terms of a

       10      slightly higher per square foot that scenario, wouldn't you?

       11             A     Yes.

       12             Q     Conversely, if I -- same situation; 10 year

       13      lease, empty shell.  The landlord says, "No way, Ellen.

       14      I'm not doing that.  You want this space?  You pay for it
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       15      the way you want it to be."  You would expect in that

       16      scenario that the fair market rental value would be -- I'm

       17      sorry, my rent would be a little lower because I'm making

       18      some capital improvements.  Correct?

       19             A     Correct.

       20             Q     And in a -- reviewing and coming up with a

       21      report, expert report, you would expect the appraiser to

       22      take into those factors and reduce them to writing in a

       23      report, correct?

       24             A     Yes.

       25             Q     And in the charter school case, in fact, the
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        1      master lease provides that the charter school is to --

        2      strike that.

        3                   The second amendment to the lease provides that

        4      the charter school is to pay 100 percent of the interior

        5      work or the outfitting of the space, does it not?

        6             A     Yes.

        7             Q     And yet in your report you do not mention that

        8      at all, do you?

        9             A     Well, there's really no reason to because we

       10      didn't consider the existing lease to be an arm's length

       11      transaction and our market rent is based on the condition of

       12      the building as of the date of inspection; it's not based on

       13      a shell building, it's not based on a future date.

       14             Q     You don't think it was important to know that

       15      your client, the charter school, spent over a million

       16      dollars outfitting the space in the years 2007 and 2008?

       17             A     No.  Well, this was September 28th, 2008.  As

       18      of that date the condition of the building warranted $14.50.

       19      If I would do another market rent study today and there's

       20      been improvements to the building since then that market
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       21      rent would be as of today and it would include any

       22      improvements to the building since that time.

       23             Q     And if I'm understanding you correctly, if you

       24      had been asked to give an opinion as to when the lease

       25      agreement then was signed you may have rendered a different
�
                                 Tierney - Cross                      1237

        1      opinion because you would have considered the charter

        2      school's expenses in outfitting the space.

        3             A     If I were to --

        4             Q     Go back to July of '07.  That's the --

        5                   MR. ANDERS:  Can the witness finish answering

        6      the question, please?

        7             A     Well, I mean, the date of the appraisal of the

        8      market rent analysis is September 25th, 2008.  That is all

        9      that I considered, the market rent as of that date, the

       10      condition of the building as of that date.

       11             Q     Right.

       12             A     The lease that's in place, because it's not an

       13      arm's length transaction, was really set aside after that

       14      was determined.  We didn't consider the terms of the lease

       15      because it was not an arm's length transaction.

       16             Q     And, in fact, this lease agreement -- and I

       17      should clarify.  The master lease agreement is also unique,

       18      is it not, because it doesn't give exclusive possession to

       19      the tenant.

       20             A     Well, like I said, it's -- because it's not an

       21      arm's length transaction I'm not really considering any of

       22      the terms of that lease in our analysis.

       23             Q     But, sir, you were asked to come up with a fair

       24      market rental value for the space, correct?

       25             A     Yes.
�
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        1             Q     So, if I'm understanding you correctly, you

        2      didn't factor in -- in coming up with that opinion testimony

        3      and evaluation, you didn't factor in that the charter school

        4      spent over a million dollars in improvements, correct?

        5             A     That was some cost -- that's in the past.

        6             Q     So, you didn't acknowledge it, didn't affect

        7      your analysis.

        8             A     No.

        9             Q     It didn't affect your analysis that the charter

       10      school only has control of the space through the calendar --

       11      school calendar year Monday through Friday, 7:30 a.m. to

       12      5:30 p.m.

       13             A     No.

       14             Q     In any of the comparables that you used for

       15      your report that's been produced here in the hearing today,

       16      did you see in those underlying lease agreements any

       17      condition that wouldn't give the tenant 100 percent

       18      possession of the subject property?

       19             A     Well, I've seen lease agreements that

       20      restricted usage for insurance purposes, where times would

       21      be restricted for ....

       22             Q     The question, sir, was with respect to the

       23      comps you used for this report that you produced here today

       24      and which has been marked by Mr. Anders as CS-12.

       25             A     I don't recall in those leases seeing a time
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        1      restriction.

        2             Q     And, certainly, if you're restricted Monday

        3      through Friday 7:30 a.m., roughly, to 5:00 p.m., again, that

        4      would tend to decrease the rental value of the property,

        5      would it not?
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        6             A     Well, we didn't examine that.  I imagine that

        7      it could.  I mean, a school is in operation during certain

        8      hours.  If a school is typically open during certain hours

        9      a lessee may be concerned about not being able to enter the

       10      school at midnight, 2 o'clock in the morning, or they may

       11      not.

       12             Q     Well, you mentioned playing fields in your

       13      report with respect to the charter school, right?

       14             A     Yes.

       15             Q     Typically sports are played at all different

       16      times of days and weekends, right?

       17             A     That's right, if they have -- if their teams

       18      participate with other schools.  But, I don't think that

       19      affects my rent of $14.50.

       20             Q     But you assumed when you came up with the

       21      $14.50 per square foot that a tenant would have 100 percent

       22      control of the property, didn't you?

       23             A     I assumed that they would.

       24             Q     And, in fact, that's not true in this

       25      particular case.
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        1             A     It's not true in a non arm's length transaction

        2      lease.

        3             Q     And when you look at the master lease itself.

        4      Not only is it a non arm's length transaction lease, but

        5      when you look at the plain and unequivocal terms of the

        6      lease agreement.

        7             A     It's ... the question is?

        8             Q     The lease agreement does not give exclusive

        9      possession --

       10             A     No, it does not.
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       11                   MR. ANDERS:  Objection.  Asked and answered

       12      about 10 times.

       13             Q     And did you factor in, sir, that the charter

       14      school had made a minimum monthly payment of $18,756.56

       15      prior to the new building being completed?

       16             A     I mean, anything prior to my report -- I mean,

       17      the condition of the building as of the date of inspection

       18      is what the rent is based on.

       19             Q     And, again, is it not important to know what

       20      the tenant had been paying for the land when it couldn't

       21      even use it as a building?

       22             A     Again, if you're talking about the lease that

       23      exists on the property, I mean, we didn't consider that.

       24      I'm talking about the property as it is, as of the date of

       25      inspection.
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        1             Q     So, you sort you of put on blinders in terms of

        2      what may have historically transpired between these related

        3      parties, the church and the school.  Is that a fair

        4      statement?

        5             A     Yes.  It's -- that would be necessary.  I mean,

        6      I wouldn't want to be influenced by the terms of a lease

        7      between the related parties.

        8             Q     So, when you inspected the property in

        9      September, roughly, of '08 you're assuming that the landlord

       10      paid for the improvements at that point in time.

       11             A     I'm assuming --

       12             Q     Because it's in an as-is condition.

       13             A     Right.

       14             Q     And if the tenant had paid for those

       15      improvements then that would --

       16                   MR. ANDERS:  Objection.  Asked and answered.
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       17             Q     -- lower --

       18                   MR. LITTS:  Well, let her ask the question and

       19      then we'll entertain the objection.

       20             Q     That would lower the fair market rental value.

       21                   MR. LITTS:  And I think the answer was yes

       22      previously.  Is that correct, everybody?

       23                   MR. ANDERS:  Yeah.

       24                   MR. LITTS:  Next question.

       25             Q     In terms of the photographs that you took, go
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        1      to Page 40 of the report.  Let me show you because it is

        2      much clearer in the copy that Mr. Anders was nice enough to

        3      provide me with today.  What part of the building is that

        4      photo?

        5             A     I believe that's the newer portion.

        6             Q     And there's a fairly large sign on the building

        7      there; isn't there?

        8             A     Yes.

        9             Q     And that sign says Shawnee Tabernacle Church.

       10      Am I correct?

       11             A     Well, it says Shawnee Tabernacle.

       12             Q     Shawnee Tabernacle.

       13             A     Yes.

       14             Q     Is that the landlord, Shawnee Tabernacle

       15      Church?

       16             A     Yes.  Well, the property owner.

       17             Q     The property owner.  Also the landlord.

       18             A     Well, in that case, in the case of the non

       19      arm's length transaction.

       20             Q     Now, in your report on Page 29 in the last

       21      paragraph that's more than one sentence long you note that
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       22      this is a built-to-suit property, don't you?

       23             A     Yes, it's a built-to-suit property and it's --

       24      and it's reflective of other built-to-suit properties which,

       25      in general, are more expensive than a generic product.
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        1             Q     Unless, I think we've established, the tenant

        2      pays for that improvement and that built-to-suit building,

        3      correct?

        4             A     Well, I mean, like I said, I'm looking at the

        5      building as it stood.  I mean, in its condition.

        6             Q     Well, but --

        7             A     And, I mean, a built-to-suit property -- for

        8      instance, any school district that constructs a building,

        9      those are all built to suit, and they are extremely

       10      expensive.  Everyone knows that.

       11             Q     Yes, because of all the regulations.

       12             A     Right.  For whatever reason they're very

       13      expensive and because of the regulations or whatever reasons

       14      the cost to construct is very high for schools, which are

       15      built to suit, and for any other -- an industrial building

       16      down in Northampton County cost $210.00 a square foot to

       17      construct because it was a specialized building, built to

       18      suit, a refrigerated warehouse, for example, which is a lot

       19      more than a typical warehouse.  And in the case of schools

       20      they cost more than a typical office building.

       21             Q     But we're getting somewhat outside the scope of

       22      my question which really is about who's paying for it is

       23      relevant when you're coming up with the fair market rental

       24      value.

       25             A     It's relevant if the improvements have yet to
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        1      be constructed.
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        2             Q     But, sir, when I gave you my hypotheticals you

        3      agreed with me.

        4             A     I agreed with you only to the point of the

        5      lease rates assuming that we have not yet fit out the

        6      interior.

        7             Q     So, you don't -- let's --

        8             A     Once the interiors are fit out --

        9             Q     Let's --

       10                   MR. ANDERS:  Excuse me.  Can the witness finish

       11      answering the question, please?

       12                   MR. LITTS:  Miss Schurdak, let him finish

       13      answering the question and you can ask a follow-up later.

       14             A     In your hypothetical we were looking at it from

       15      the viewpoint of the lease rate being more or less depending

       16      on whether or not the landlord or tenant would pay for the

       17      fit out of the interior of the building.  If you go beyond

       18      that and assume that the building -- the interior's already

       19      fit out and then try and lease the building all the those

       20      considerations are -- don't exist anymore.

       21             Q     Are you done?

       22             A     Yes.

       23             Q     Let me give you a new hypothetical, okay?  It's

       24      summertime and let's just use a random date, 2006.  I enter

       25      into a contract with my landlord.  There's a building there
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        1      that I can use.  There's also empty space.  The landlord

        2      says, "I will pay for the framework of the building, but I

        3      want you, Ellen, to start paying, basically, my mortgage,

        4      my monthly cost that it's going to cost me to construct this

        5      framework for you," okay?  And that's our agreement.  So,

        6      I'm paying rent for the building that I can use and I'm
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        7      paying some rent for -- that basically pays my landlord's

        8      construction loan to build the building, just the framing,

        9      and, by the way, I'm responsible for all the costs of

       10      outfitting it.

       11             A     Mm-hmm.

       12             Q     10 year long lease and then we also put in,

       13      once the building passes all inspections, you know, gets the

       14      CO's, that then my rent becomes one lump payment, x-thousand

       15      a month, for the remaining nine years or eight years on the

       16      lease.  Okay?

       17             A     Yes.

       18             Q     You would expect in that scenario that my rent

       19      would take into account and be lower -- strike that.  That

       20      my rent would be lower than an as-is ready to rent building

       21      outfitted already, wouldn't you?

       22             A     Yes.  That's basically what we discussed

       23      before.

       24             Q     Exactly.

       25             A     That's not the case here, though.
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        1             Q     I agree with you, that is not the case here.

        2      There's nothing in your report to indicate that you

        3      considered that the charter school was paying $18,000.00

        4      a month for, essentially, vacant space.

        5             A     What happened in the past --

        6                   MR. ANDERS:  Objection.  There's no foundation

        7      for that question.

        8             Q     Look at SD-2, sir, which I think is probably

        9      Tab No. 14.

       10                   MR. LITTS:  I'm assuming that question is

       11      withdrawn in light of the objection?

       12                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Yes.
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       13             Q     And it should say Second Amendment to Lease

       14      Amendment Agreement.

       15             A     Yes.

       16             Q     I just want to make sure we have the same

       17      document.  If you go to Article 1 on Page 2, to 2.2,

       18      Calculation of Rent for Expansion Premises --

       19             A     Yes.

       20             Q     -- it says, does it not, "Tenant will pay

       21      landlord each month a minimum monthly payment of $18,756.56

       22      or as set forth in the attached schedule entitled Expansion

       23      Premises Based Rent," does it not?

       24             A     Yes.

       25             Q     And, in fact, if you go under 1.2 it says --
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        1      and I'm going to paraphrase a bit, but it says that $11.00

        2      per square foot is going to be paid by the charter school

        3      beginning June 1st, 2007, or upon completion of construction

        4      for the 36,000 square feet."  Shouldn't it?  I'm sorry, is

        5      that what it says?

        6             A     Yes.

        7             Q     Then when we go to the master lease, which is

        8      the exhibit tab preceding 14, and this is signed a year

        9      later, the charter school is not paying $11.00 per square

       10      foot, it's now paying $14.00 a square foot, isn't it?

       11             A     Yes.

       12             Q     And intervening, assuming that everyone

       13      operates under the terms of the agreement, while the

       14      building is being built the charter school paid a month at

       15      least eighteen thousand some-odd dollars, correct?

       16             A     I would assume.

       17             Q     It's safe for me to say all of your comps
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       18      were -- are using a reference point of the Fall of 2008 for

       19      value evaluation purposes.

       20             A     Yes.

       21             Q     None of your comps are using the date that the

       22      parties entered into the master lease agreement.

       23             A     Well, I -- you know, they are -- they are not.

       24             Q     In your first comp, which is found on Page 30

       25      of your report, the Pocono School of Excellence, there is
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        1      nothing in your report that mentions who made any

        2      improvements to the space.  Is that correct?

        3             A     No, there's nothing in here that indicates

        4      that, no.

        5             Q     And there's nothing in your report to indicate

        6      the age of building, is there?

        7             A     No.

        8             Q     And age of the building is an important factor,

        9      is it not, when coming up with a fair market rental value.

       10             A     Yes, and I do have that information, just not

       11      in the report.  It's not necessary.

       12             Q     Well, my question is there's nothing in the

       13      report.

       14             A     No, there's nothing in the report, no.

       15             Q     Towards the beginning of your report you go

       16      into some analysis in terms of the demographics of Monroe

       17      County, don't you?

       18             A     Briefly, yes.

       19             Q     And that's important because rental value on

       20      some level is tied into population for one, right?

       21             A     Correct.

       22             Q     Fair market rental value is also correlated to

       23      income of the population where the property is located,
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       24      correct?

       25             A     In general, very generally.
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        1             Q     Right.  But I would expect, for example, to pay

        2      more for space in Washington, D.C. on a square foot basis

        3      than I would here.

        4             A     Depending on the space, yes.

        5             Q     Right.  But all things equal.

        6             A     Very much depending on the space.

        7             Q     All things equal.

        8             A     In a general sense you would.

        9             Q     Now, there's nothing in your report when we

       10      come to Comp 2, which is for a school in Delaware County,

       11      Pennsylvania, to indicate the demographics for Delaware

       12      County, Pennsylvania, correct?

       13             A     No.

       14             Q     Are you familiar with Delaware County,

       15      Pennsylvania?

       16             A     Yes.

       17             Q     And Delaware County is right outside of

       18      Phillie; isn't it?

       19             A     Yes.

       20             Q     Parts of Delaware County are referred to as the

       21      Main Line?

       22             A     Mm-hmm, correct.

       23             Q     Yes.  And the Main Line has, again, a higher

       24      income level, generally speaking, than here, Monroe County.

       25             A     Yes.  Again, we're talking in very general
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        1      terms.

        2             Q     And there's nothing in your report that
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        3      references that Delaware County has different demographics

        4      than Monroe County, is there?

        5             A     No, no, because in the case of a school

        6      building that's not nearly as important as it would be in a

        7      commercial property.  If you look at the cost to construct a

        8      school building, and I have, you'll see that in Delaware

        9      County the cost per square foot to construct a school

       10      building doesn't differ very much from what it would cost

       11      here.

       12             Q     But, sir, isn't it true that what you would pay

       13      for the land differs dramatically?

       14             A     The land would --

       15             Q     The land value.

       16             A     The land value would differ dramatically.

       17             Q     And because you're paying more for the land in

       18      a place like Delaware County, Pennsylvania, that would

       19      increase the rent.

       20             A     Depending on the size of the land to the

       21      comparable property.  This property has a very small piece

       22      of land.

       23             Q     And it's also 10,000 square feet, the building,

       24      isn't it?

       25             A     Right.  They only lease a portion.
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        1             Q     They only lease a portion of that.

        2             A     Right.

        3             Q     Generally speaking, the more space I lease the

        4      less I pay per square foot, correct?

        5             A     Generally, yes.

        6             Q     So, if I'm only leasing -- I'm sorry, here you

        7      have it listed as 10,000 square feet.  What portion of the

        8      building is being rented by the school?
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        9             A     Which portion?

       10             Q     How many square feet of that 10,000?

       11             A     No, 10,000 is the area being leased.

       12             Q     Okay.

       13             A     The building is closer to 50,000.

       14             Q     Okay.  How many square feet for the charter

       15      school?

       16             A     Well, the leased area is approximately 65,000.

       17             Q     Big difference, isn't there, in terms of the

       18      two, that being the charter school and Comp No. 2, correct?

       19             A     Right.

       20             Q     There's nothing in your report that addresses

       21      that difference, is there?

       22             A     No.  It's a summary report and we don't put all

       23      the details in a summary report.  But, this building is a

       24      much older building.  This building was constructed in the

       25      1940's and has no athletic fields at all and limited
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        1      parking.  So, you adjust for the different aspects of the

        2      comparable property.  So, in some ways the subject property

        3      is superior and in other ways it's inferior.

        4             Q     Well, this is a five year lease and the tenant

        5      is paying $13.30 a square foot.

        6             A     Yes.

        7             Q     For an area that is wealthier than Monroe

        8      County, right?

        9             A     Correct.

       10             Q     And for a fraction of the space that is

       11      relevant to the charter school, right?

       12             A     Right, but with inferior other attributes.

       13             Q     Do you know with Comp No. 2 whether or not --
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       14      strike that.  Your report doesn't indicate whether or not

       15      with Comp No. 2 the tenant has full possession of that

       16      10,000 square foot space, correct?

       17             A     No, it doesn't indicate it, no.

       18             Q     Thank you.  And your report doesn't indicate

       19      whether or not the tenant paid for any retrofitting of the

       20      space, correct?

       21             A     No, doesn't indicate that, no.

       22             Q     Now, you're from the Lehigh Valley?

       23             A     Yes.

       24             Q     Right?  So, you're familiar with some of the

       25      real estate in the Lehigh Valley.
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        1             A     Yes.

        2             Q     Being an appraiser.  And I think on direct you

        3      said something to the effect that one of the reasons you

        4      went outside of northeast Pennsylvania was because it was

        5      hard to find comps for schools.  Is that -- I don't want to

        6      misrepresent what you said, but is that the gist of what you

        7      said?

        8             A     Yes.

        9             Q     Is there a reason that you don't have as a comp

       10      the Lehigh Valley Charter School for the Performing Arts?

       11             A     Well, because I don't have the lease

       12      information for that building.  I do have other -- since

       13      this appraisal I have gotten data on other charter schools

       14      and one of them is in the Lehigh Valley.

       15             Q     Comp No. -- what I'm calling Comp No. 3 is

       16      located in Berks County, is it not?

       17             A     Yes.

       18             Q     And this is a child care center that you used.

       19             A     Yes.  Well, it's a built-to-suit child care
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       20      center.

       21             Q     Well, nothing in your report indicates who paid

       22      for that built-to-suit, correct?

       23             A     No, it doesn't indicate it, no.

       24             Q     And who paid for that built-to-suit would

       25      affect the rent that's being paid by the tenant, correct?
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        1             A     That could, yes.

        2             Q     The space is roughly 7500 square feet, correct?

        3             A     Right.

        4             Q     That's dramatically less than what the square

        5      footage is involved with the charter school, correct?

        6             A     Correct.

        7             Q     And there is nothing in your report to indicate

        8      the age of the building, is there?

        9             A     It doesn't indicate, but it was constructed in

       10      1999.  And the current lease rate is $16.80 which is higher

       11      than what I --

       12             Q     Hmm?  Your next comp is located in Chester

       13      County, Pennsylvania.  Chester County, Pennsylvania, is one

       14      of the counties that borders on Philadelphia, does it not?

       15             A     Yes.

       16             Q     And there are some communities there -- strike

       17      that.  Chadds Ford is located within Chester County?

       18             A     Yes, I believe it is.

       19             Q     And Chadds Ford is an upper middle class

       20      community, is it not?

       21             A     Yes, Chadds Ford.

       22             Q     Now, your comp is to a tenant that you noted as

       23      Chesterbrook Academy?

       24             A     Yes.
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       25             Q     And that's a private school, is it not?
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        1             A     Yes.

        2             Q     There's nothing in your report to indicate the

        3      year that the building was built, is there?

        4             A     Well, this, again, was a built-to-suit property

        5      and it was constructed in 2002.

        6             Q     Where does it say in your report that it was

        7      constructed in 2002?

        8             A     Well, it doesn't, but I'm just telling you

        9      that's when it was constructed.  It was -- a built-to-suit

       10      property -- generally the lease would begin as of the date

       11      of occupancy.

       12             Q     So, Chesterbrook Academy didn't pay its

       13      landlord for unusable space.

       14             A     No.  No, they didn't pay for unusable space.

       15             Q     They didn't pay the landlord the cost of the

       16      construction loan.

       17             A     They -- for the construction loan?  No, they

       18      didn't pay directly for the construction loan.

       19             Q     And the landlord paid for the outfitting of the

       20      building.

       21             A     No, it was partially paid by the landlord and

       22      partially paid by the tenant.

       23             Q     How many --

       24             A     Usually --

       25             Q     -- appraisals --
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        1                   MR. ANDERS:  Excuse me.  I think he was

        2      finishing his answer.

        3                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm sorry.  There was a

        4      hesitation and I had started my question.
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        5                   MR. LITTS:  Do you have anything else?

        6             A     Well, it's just that generally a landlord will

        7      give a fit out allowance and they may say $25.00 a square

        8      foot for that allowance and the tenant may want something

        9      better than that and, so, if it costs $35.00 a square foot

       10      to fit out they'll have to pay out the extra $10.00 a square

       11      foot.

       12             Q     That's the general rule of thumb.

       13             A     Yeah.  That's what happened in this case.

       14             Q     But with the charter school that didn't happen,

       15      did it?

       16             A     Well, we assumed that it was already fit out in

       17      my report.

       18             Q     But I don't want you to assume anything, I want

       19      you to look at the reality of the situation.

       20             A     Well ....

       21                   MR. ANDERS:  Objection.  We've already gone

       22      through this and I don't know what reality is.

       23                   MR. LITTS:  Well, let's -- the phrasing of the

       24      question you're taking exception to.  What I hear the

       25      question to be, Mr. Tierney, is this:  Do you know whether
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        1      or not Pocono Mountain Charter School received a fit out

        2      allowance with regards to the lease that you're testifying

        3      to today?  Yes or no.

        4             A     Well, see, I'm not testifying to the lease

        5      that's signed.

        6                   MR. LITTS:  I understand that, but if you can

        7      answer that question.  If you can't answer the question,

        8      fine.  That's how I understood the question.

        9             A     I don't know much about the terms that were in
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       10      place back in -- with the construction of who paid the fit

       11      out because it wasn't relevant to the rental rate as of the

       12      date of inspection.

       13             Q     But --

       14             A     I don't need to know --

       15             Q     -- at the very beginning -- are you done?

       16             A     Yes.

       17             Q     At the very beginning of your testimony you

       18      said, "I reviewed lease agreements," plural.

       19             A     Yes.

       20             Q     I asked you if you had reviewed the second

       21      amendment to the lease agreement and I believe you said yes.

       22             A     Yeah, I believe I did, yes.

       23             Q     And that's the agreement that I referenced

       24      before that's marked as SD-2 and it's probably Tab 14 in

       25      your book.  That agreement says, does it not, who pays for
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        1      the expansion.

        2             A     Yes, it does, but it's not an arm's length

        3      lease.  I didn't consider it.

        4             Q     That's a separate -- I'm getting at what

        5      Mr. Litts was asking you.  He said, "Do you know who paid

        6      for the outfitting of the expansion?"

        7             A     Well, see, I didn't memorize the leases.

        8             Q     Well, use it to refresh your recollection.

        9             A     I -- it may say that, but it doesn't affect my

       10      opinion.

       11             Q     It says, does it not, "Tenant shall reimburse

       12      landlord for all costs and expenses of any nature whatsoever

       13      for any improvements, furniture, fixtures, appliances,

       14      systems necessary or appropriate for the structure and

       15      operation of the expansion of the leasehold premises from
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       16      the frame of the structure inward including the improvements

       17      provided for in the second amendment."

       18             A     Mm-hmm.  Yes, that's what it says.

       19             Q     So, to answer Mr. Litts's question, the charter

       20      school paid for it.

       21             A     Well, apparently they did.

       22             Q     And the charter school, in fact, paid a minimum

       23      monthly payment of roughly 18,000 --

       24                   MR. ANDERS:  Objection.  This has been asked

       25      and answered about five times.
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        1                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Well, if he would answer the

        2      question.

        3                   MR. ANDERS:  He did and you keep repeating the

        4      same question.

        5                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I hear that the question has

        6      been asked and answered and I presume the answer is yes

        7      because the document speaks for itself.  So, why don't we

        8      move on to something else.  Objection sustained.

        9             Q     Moving on to the next comp in Allegheny County,

       10      there's nothing in your report to indicate what the

       11      demographics are in Allegheny County, correct?

       12             A     No.  No, there's not.

       13             Q     There's nothing in your report that provides

       14      for when the building was built, correct?

       15             A     No.

       16             Q     And the space involved, 33,000 square feet, is

       17      less than what is involved in the subject property, correct?

       18             A     Correct.

       19             Q     The next comp is Mercer County, New Jersey.

       20      There's nothing in your report to indicate the demographics
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       21      associated with Mercer County, New Jersey.

       22             A     No.

       23             Q     Correct?

       24             A     There's not.

       25             Q     There's nothing in your report to indicate the
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        1      age of the building, correct?

        2             A     Nope, there is nothing in there.

        3             Q     There's nothing in your report to indicate who

        4      paid for any retrofitting of the building, correct?

        5             A     No, there's not, but all this information I do

        6      have and considered that, all that information, in my

        7      analysis.

        8             Q     But you knew that this report was going to be

        9      used in litigation, didn't you?

       10             A     I knew that it could be.  But, again, a summary

       11      report doesn't need to have all the specifics.

       12             Q     But you felt it was important to put in the

       13      demographics relating to Monroe County.

       14             A     Well, yes, the subject property is always put

       15      in.

       16             Q     And Dorchester County, Maryland.  I have to

       17      admit that I don't quite know where Dorchester County is.

       18      Can you tell me, sir?

       19             A     It's in the -- I believe it's in -- it's in the

       20      south middle part of the state.  I don't recall the exact

       21      location.

       22             Q     You're not sure as you are testifying here

       23      today, it's distance from Washington, D.C., are you?

       24             A     No.

       25             Q     And you're not, likewise, sure how close it is
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        1      to Bethesda, Maryland, are you?

        2             A     No.

        3             Q     There's nothing in your report to indicate the

        4      age of the building; is that correct?

        5             A     No.

        6             Q     There's nothing in your report to indicate who

        7      paid for retrofitting the property, correct?

        8             A     No, there's not.

        9             Q     And the space is less than the subject

       10      property, correct?

       11             A     Correct.

       12             Q     Now, you have here tenant, in parentheses,

       13      Potomac Ridge Behavioral Health System.

       14             A     Yes.

       15             Q     What does that mean?

       16             A     That's the -- the tenant is The Ridge School,

       17      but The Ridge School is owned by the Potomac Ridge Behavior

       18      Health System.

       19             Q     Okay.  Your next comp is Cumberland County,

       20      Pennsylvania, and the comp you're using is for 6,000 square

       21      feet; is that correct?

       22             A     Yes.

       23             Q     That's a fraction of the subject property,

       24      correct?

       25             A     Correct.
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        1             Q     Nothing in your report to indicate who paid for

        2      any physical improvements to the property, correct?

        3             A     No.

        4             Q     No, that's not correct?

        5             A     No, it does not indicate who paid for it.
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        6             Q     And there's nothing in your report to indicate

        7      the age of the building, is there?

        8             A     No.

        9             Q     Now we get to Forks Township, Northampton

       10      County, Pennsylvania, as the next comp.  There's nothing in

       11      your report that indicates the demographics of Northampton

       12      County, correct?

       13             A     No.

       14             Q     There's nothing in your report that indicates

       15      the age of the building, correct?

       16             A     Well, again, this is a built-to-suit property

       17      that was constructed in 2006.

       18             Q     Where does it say that in your report?

       19             A     It doesn't say it in the report.

       20             Q     It does not say it in the report.  When you say

       21      it's built to suit who paid for those improvements?

       22             A     The improve -- the construction was paid by the

       23      property owner.

       24             Q     By the landlord.

       25             A     Yes.
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        1             Q     So, you would expect that the tenant, then,

        2      would pay a slightly higher per square footage in rent.

        3             A     Well, almost always the building's constructed.

        4      The question is whether the fit out was paid for by the

        5      tenant or by the landlord and, in most cases, it's a

        6      combination of that.

        7             Q     You're given an allowance.

        8             A     Yes.

        9             Q     There's nothing in your report to indicate what

       10      the allowance was with respect to the Goddard School,

       11      correct?
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       12             A     No, I don't have it with me.

       13             Q     Now, you get, then, to the subject property its

       14      lease summary, on Page 40.  It was, in your opinion, unusual

       15      that there is a separate lease agreement for Premises C, the

       16      athletic fields, correct?

       17             A     Yeah, it's unusual, assuming that it's

       18      constructed later.  It could be a separate lease.  You know,

       19      if they construct another building on it they may have a

       20      separate lease for that other -- rewrite the entire lease.

       21      That's why in most of the schools the athletic field was

       22      constructed with the building at the same time.  So, they

       23      didn't have a separate lease agreement for the athletic

       24      field because they were all constructed together.

       25             Q     But you made note of it in your report that it
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        1      was unusual.

        2             A     Yeah, it was different than the comparables.

        3             Q     And it could also reflect the fact that the

        4      parties are related.

        5             A     Well, I don't know how that reflects -- I mean,

        6      having a separate lease for new improvements happens many

        7      times, just not in any of my comparables.  That's why I

        8      pointed it out.

        9             Q     But in the master lease, which is School

       10      District 1, and I think it's Tab 13 in your book, in that

       11      binder, if we go to 3.21 of that lease agreement -- and tell

       12      me when you're there because I don't want to get ahead of

       13      you.

       14             A     3.21.

       15             Q     Page 3 of the master lease agreement.  Are you

       16      on the right page?
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       17             A     Yes.

       18             Q     3.21 provides that the charter school's paying

       19      the church $33,000.00 per month for the basic rent for

       20      Premises A, right?

       21             A     Yes.

       22             Q     The next paragraph provides that the charter

       23      school will be paying $41,416.67 upon substantial completion

       24      of the construction of Premises B.  Okay?

       25             A     Right.
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        1             Q     Next paragraph.  The annual base rent for

        2      Premises C shall be $3,000.00.  That's the athletic fields,

        3      isn't it?

        4             A     Yes.

        5             Q     So, when the parties signed this agreement the

        6      athletic fields, according to the lease, were constructed.

        7             A     When they signed this lease, but they had other

        8      leases in place previous to this and all they did was

        9      separate the premises.  I mean, I really don't know why they

       10      separated the premises.  I mean, it's ... they may have

       11      their own reasons why, but I can't answer how they -- how

       12      they structured their lease, for what purpose.

       13             Q     Now, the rest of the comps in your report do

       14      not have any school facilities.

       15             A     No.  That's why they're depicted after we're

       16      done with the school comps.  They're really just general

       17      office space which -- in newer buildings, buildings

       18      constructed since the mid '90s, and it shows that the

       19      school's rent is within the range even of newer office

       20      space.  But it really is not -- they're there for

       21      demonstration purposes, they are not -- they were not used

       22      as part of the determination of market rent.
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       23             Q     Newer office space would, generally speaking,

       24      be higher than for -- rental purposes than school space.

       25             A     No, no, no, definitely not.  I mean, you're
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        1      going to -- when someone tries to rent a property you have

        2      to pay the mortgage of the property.  The construction of a

        3      school is usually much more expensive than the construction

        4      of an office.  That's -- in general terms.  I mean, you

        5      don't find -- I have seen schools that are constructed for

        6      3 or $400.00 a square foot that are 40, 50,000 square feet

        7      and an office building of 40, 50,000 square feet may -- the

        8      construction cost may be $150.00 a square foot.  So, to pay

        9      the mortgage on a school you'll have to charge a higher rent

       10      than you would for office space.  Now, most of these are

       11      smaller spaces.

       12             Q     I was going to say, these are small office

       13      spaces which means you're paying more per square foot.

       14             A     Right, but generally --

       15             Q     So, it's --

       16             A     -- schools are more expensive than -- newly

       17      constructed schools.  I don't want to ....

       18             Q     And part of the space is not newly constructed.

       19             A     Well, newer.  I mean, these office buildings

       20      were constructed from the mid '90s 'til mid 2000.

       21             Q     So, you consider anything mid '90s newer

       22      construction.

       23             A     Newer, yeah, that you would ....

       24             Q     Okay.  Are you aware that the landlord is using

       25      some of the space of the subject property?
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        1             A     Yes, it's my understanding that the landlord is
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        2      using some of the space.

        3             Q     And how much of that space?

        4             A     I don't know the square footage of the space

        5      being used.

        6             Q     I don't see as, you're going into the Monroe

        7      County office space comps, any mention for any of these

        8      comps how accessible these offices are to Route 80.

        9             A     To ....

       10             Q     To Route 80.  Is that correct?

       11             A     No, it doesn't indicate how accessible they are

       12      to Route 80, no.

       13             Q     The proximity of office space to a major

       14      highway is important to know, isn't it?

       15             A     Yes, as office space, yes.

       16             Q     Because it has to do with --

       17             A     For office space, right.

       18             Q     And why is that important?

       19             A     Well, as an office user you wanted to -- if

       20      you're going to have -- in the case of, for example, a

       21      doctor or lawyer you want your clients to be able to find

       22      you, you want people to be able to get there easily.  In the

       23      case of a school you can't be so picky; schools have to be

       24      constructed where the people live.

       25             Q     Well, you -- strike that.  And some of these
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        1      comps, specifically on Page 45, are also different than the

        2      subject property because they are gross leases.

        3             A     Right.

        4             Q     And, generally speaking, you're going to pay

        5      more per square footage if it's a gross lease.

        6             A     Right.

        7             Q     You do not have an opinion as to the fair
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        8      market rental value of the subject property, the charter

        9      school, as of July 2007, do you?

       10             A     No.  This was September 2008.

       11             Q     And, likewise, you don't have an opinion as to

       12      the fair market rental value of the charter school's

       13      property that it was leasing as of July, 2006.

       14             A     No.

       15             Q     Sir, I know you testified that -- I think that

       16      you did this -- strike that.  Who was your client in this

       17      matter?

       18             A     Well, actually, the client was Attorney Anders.

       19             Q     Well, in terms of your fee agreement letter it

       20      was actually signed by Pastor Bloom, wasn't it?

       21             A     Well, it may say that, I don't see his name

       22      there, but, really, who pays for the report doesn't make the

       23      client, it's who engages the report.

       24             Q     You don't see --

       25             A     No, I see --
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        1             Q     You see that.

        2             A     I see -- but, like I said, that doesn't make

        3      you my client.

        4             Q     Have you had any conversations with Pastor

        5      Bloom?

        6             A     No.

        7             Q     When you went to the subject property to tour

        8      it who was present?

        9             A     There was a young lady at the desk when I went

       10      in and I told her why I was there and she showed me around.

       11      I don't recall her name.

       12             Q     So, she showed you around.
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       13             A     Well, basically, yes.

       14             Q     How long were you there?

       15             A     Not very long; maybe 15, 20 minutes.

       16             Q     15, 20 minutes?

       17             A     Yeah.

       18                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I have no further questions,

       19      sir.  Thank you.

       20                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Anders, hold up, if you don't

       21      mind.  I note it's 12:05.  We'll give our stenographer a

       22      break and we usually have a lunch and we have a weather

       23      drill scheduled in this building.  So, I was going to

       24      suggest -- and I apologize, Mr. Tierney, that we take our

       25      lunch break now and you can come back and do your redirect
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        1      and the board has some questions.  So, if that's okay with

        2      everyone why don't we come back -- shoot for 1 o'clock.

        3                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I think I should give details of

        4      the weather drill, but before I do so this witness is still

        5      under oath, so he should not be talking about it his

        6      testimony with anyone.

        7                   MR. LITTS:  Yes, Mr. Tierney, you are under

        8      oath, you're still testifying, and you shouldn't speak about

        9      the subject if -- your testimony with anyone.

       10                   MR. ANDERS:  I have a question.  What's a

       11      weather drill?

       12                   MR. LITTS:  Let's go off the record and Ellen

       13      can explain that.

       14                   (Recess from 12:06 p.m. to 1:11 p.m.)

       15                             - - -

       16      REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ANDERS:

       17             Q     Sir, as an appraiser I assume that you are

       18      familiar with USPAP?
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       19             A     Yes.

       20             Q     What is USPAP?

       21             A     It's the Uniform Standards of Professional

       22      Appraisal Practice.

       23             Q     And is that sort of like the Bible for

       24      appraisers?

       25             A     Yeah.
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        1             Q     Does it contain definitions?

        2             A     It contains some definitions, yes.

        3             Q     Is "generally speaking" a defined term by

        4      USPAP?

        5             A     "Generally speaking," no.

        6             Q     Is "expected" or "you would expect" a defined

        7      term by USPAP?

        8             A     No.

        9             Q     Now, you were asked some questions about

       10      certain things not being in your report like the age of the

       11      buildings and things like that.  Do you have an opinion

       12      within a reasonable degree of appraisal certainty as to

       13      whether or not your report was prepared in accordance with

       14      USPAP?

       15             A     Yes.

       16             Q     It was prepared?

       17             A     Yes, it was prepared.

       18             Q     Now, I'm going to -- you'll have to help me out

       19      here because I forget.  This thing about paying more rent

       20      for smaller square footage, is that the economy of scale or

       21      economy of size or something --

       22             A     Right, it's along those lines.

       23             Q     And does the economy of size necessarily have
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       24      to have any affect on a built-to-suit facility?

       25             A     Well, a built-to-suit facility is different
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        1      than a generic product.  Some people -- you know, a school

        2      building that's a smaller school building may cost the same

        3      to construct per square foot as a larger one.  It depends on

        4      the specifications.

        5             Q     Now, if you would look at Page 31 of your

        6      report, you were asked some questions about -- before we get

        7      there, you were asked questions about the demographics of

        8      various counties, Northampton County, Delaware County,

        9      Chester County, and I think -- does USPAP require those to

       10      go in your report?

       11             A     No, no.  It's a summary report.

       12             Q     Now, you were also asked something about the --

       13      whether Delaware County was a wealthier county and if you

       14      would look at Page 31 and you were asked about the Main

       15      Line, okay?  Maybe I'm reading this improperly, but this

       16      Comparable No. 2, the PGA school building, does that say

       17      Main Line or does it say Upper Darby, Pennsylvania?

       18             A     It's Upper Darby.

       19             Q     And is there a difference between --

       20      economically speaking between Upper Darby and the Main Line.

       21                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm going to object.  This is

       22      outside of his report.  My questions were there is nothing

       23      in your report.

       24                   MR. ANDERS:  No, her questions were --

       25                   MR. LITTS:  Hold up.  I'm going to overrule the
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        1      objection.  Now, I think the board can take judicial notice

        2      as to all the municipalities in Delaware County and I

        3      understand and I assume the board members present understand
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        4      the point of the questioning, but I'll allow it, but just

        5      so -- if we can move it along.

        6                   MR. ANDERS:  I plan on it.

        7             Q     Page 33, the school in Chester County, and Miss

        8      Schurdak said, "Well, is Chadds Ford located in Chester

        9      County?"  Do you recall that question?

       10             A     Yes.

       11             Q     Does the location of the Chesterbrook Academy

       12      say Chadds Ford or does it say Phoenixville?

       13             A     Phoenixville.

       14             Q     And correct me if I'm wrong, but there's a

       15      difference, economically speaking, between Chadds Ford and

       16      Phoenixville.

       17             A     Yes.

       18             Q     Now, getting back to the economy of scale or

       19      whatever that thing is, if you look at the school in

       20      Delaware County, and Miss Schurdak said to you, "Well,

       21      the square footage there is 10,000 square feet."

       22                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Which page are you on, please?

       23                   MR. ANDERS:  31.

       24             Q     Do you recall that?

       25             A     Yes.
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        1             Q     And you said -- and she asked, well, the rent

        2      is $13.30 and that's less than your market rent that you

        3      established."  Do you remember that?

        4             A     Right.

        5             Q     If you would turn to Page 34, what is the

        6      square footage of that facility and what is the square foot

        7      rent?

        8             A     It's 33,300 square feet at $14.79.
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        9             Q     So, even though that facility is three times

       10      larger than the 10,000 square foot one the rent is higher.

       11             A     Yes.

       12             Q     Okay.  If you would look at the next page, 35,

       13      what is the square footage of that facility?

       14             A     It's 47,000 square feet.

       15             Q     And what is the net rent square footage of

       16      that?

       17             A     $15.74.

       18             Q     So, again, we have a much larger facility and a

       19      higher rent.

       20             A     Yes.

       21             Q     And if we look at the next page, 36, how large

       22      is that facility?

       23             A     40,180 square feet.

       24             Q     And what is the square footage rent?

       25             A     $17.67.
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        1             Q     So, we have the same result then.  Is that a

        2      yes?

        3             A     Yes.

        4             Q     Now, when conducting an appraisal does USPAP

        5      require you to make any type of historical inquiry,

        6      historical valuation?

        7             A     Historical valuation of the subject?

        8             Q     Right, what happened before.

        9             A     No.

       10             Q     It requires you to perform an appraisal as of a

       11      given date.

       12             A     Correct.

       13             Q     Now, by the way, do you know if the charter

       14      school uses the school facilities in the evening hours, on
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       15      Saturdays?

       16             A     I really am not sure.

       17             Q     And you were asked some questions about the

       18      athletic fields and sports teams.  Do you know many soccer

       19      teams that play matches at 10 o'clock, 11 o'clock at night?

       20             A     Not that I know.

       21             Q     Do you know if the charter school has any

       22      sports teams?

       23             A     I don't know that they do or don't, I ....

       24             Q     Now, you were asked some questions about who

       25      was the client.  Who engaged you?
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        1             A     You did.

        2             Q     So, I was the client then?

        3             A     Yes.

        4             Q     You were asked about tenant improvements.

        5      Strike that.  Before we get to that, what is an arm's length

        6      transaction?

        7             A     Well, it's a transaction that's negotiated

        8      between two unrelated parties that -- it could be either for

        9      a lease, a purchase ....

       10             Q     And are you familiar with commercial situations

       11      where the landlord requires the tenant, and I call them

       12      tenant facilities, but requires a landlord to -- or the

       13      tenant to put in the infrastructure of the store?

       14             A     That happens in some cases, yes.

       15             Q     And in some cases that does not affect the

       16      rent.

       17             A     Well, in some cases --

       18                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I object because we went through

       19      this on my cross extensively and Mr. Anders actually
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       20      objected to me being redundant.

       21                   MR. LITTS:  And I allowed a lot of these

       22      questions.  So, the objection is overruled.  Mr. Anders,

       23      reask your question, please.

       24             Q     And are you familiar with the Crossings?

       25             A     The shopping center on --
�
                                Tierney - Redirect                    1277

        1             Q     Yes.

        2             A     Yes.

        3             Q     Do you know whether their lease, per square

        4      foot lease went up or down depending on who was required to

        5      put in the tenant improvements?

        6                   MS. SCHURDAK:  This is way outside the scope of

        7      the expert report and my cross and I object.

        8                   MR. ANDERS:  It's not outside.  She asked all

        9      these questions about what you would expect.  I don't even

       10      know what you would expect is.  I think I'm certainly

       11      allowed to inquire.

       12                   MR. LITTS:  Well, Mr. Anders, I don't believe

       13      that specific property was the subject of this report or any

       14      earlier testimony, so I am going to sustain that objection.

       15             Q     Would you agree with me that there are

       16      landlords in malls that require the tenant to do the tenant

       17      improvements?

       18             A     Yes.

       19             Q     And that does not affect -- may not affect the

       20      square footage rent.

       21             A     It may not.

       22             Q     Now, getting back to the use of this school

       23      facility, do the desks, the equipment a teacher uses, black-

       24      boards, I assume, and things of that nature, are they there

       25      after the school shuts down for the day?
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        1             A     I would think so.

        2             Q     Can you compare a built-to-suit facility with a

        3      commercial strip mall or stores in a commercial strip mall?

        4             A     It would not be a good comparable, it would

        5      not ....

        6             Q     And, in fact, when you did the office space you

        7      did not use the office space as a comparable.

        8             A     No.

        9             Q     You used simply the charter schools that you

       10      referred to in your report.

       11                   Now, you were asked some questions about three

       12      leases.  The fact that there are three leases, does that

       13      have anything to do with the fact that -- with the market

       14      rent?

       15             A     No, no, those were signed previously.

       16             Q     And market rent is what?

       17             A     It's the rent that a knowledgeable lessee would

       18      be willing to pay for a particular space.

       19             Q     And would that also depend on the type of

       20      facility?

       21             A     Yeah.

       22             Q     And the structures that are built to suit have

       23      a more limited use?

       24             A     They have a more limited use.  It's a

       25      specialized use.
�
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        1             Q     And, therefore, the market rent for those could

        2      be substantially different than the market rent for the same

        3      size facility which was not built to suit.

        4                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I would note there's been a
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        5      number of leading questions throughout and I ask that

        6      Mr. Anders ask non-leading questions of his witness.

        7                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I'll sustain the objection.

        8      Mr. Anders, if you could rephrase your question.

        9                   MR. ANDERS:  Sure.

       10             Q     Let me move on.  You were asked a question when

       11      Ms. Schurdak started your cross examination and I think I

       12      wrote it down:  A lot can happen over a period of time with

       13      regard to real estate prices or market values.  Do you

       14      recall that?

       15             A     Yes.

       16             Q     Is that -- could you tell me if that's more or

       17      less applicable to a built-to-suit facility?

       18             A     It would be less applicable to a built-to-suit.

       19             Q     Now, you indicated that -- or you were asked

       20      some questions about the school being located in the same

       21      building as the church.

       22             A     Yes.

       23             Q     And I think you indicated that -- or did you

       24      indicate that certain of the comparable charter schools also

       25      only used a portion of the building?
�
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        1             A     Yes.  A couple occupy only a portion of the

        2      building.

        3             Q     And do you have an opinion beyond a reasonable

        4      degree of appraisal certainty as to whether or not if the

        5      other portion was occupied by a dentist's office, a lawyer's

        6      office or a church that has any affect on market rent?

        7             A     Well, I would say only if the other space was

        8      occupied by some undesirable tenant.

        9             Q     Now, you were asked some questions about you

       10      were aware of the rent before you did the inspection and
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       11      before you did your examination.  Do you recall that?

       12             A     Yes, I indicated I had seen the contract.

       13             Q     In the course --

       14                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm sorry, I couldn't hear his

       15      answer.

       16             A     I had seen the contracts that were in place.

       17             Q     During the course of your being licensed as an

       18      appraiser, have you had occasion to do appraisals for

       19      lending institutions?

       20             A     Yes.

       21             Q     And have you had occasion to do appraisals for

       22      lending institutions in conjunction with financing for the

       23      purchase of a building?

       24             A     Yes.

       25             Q     And as part of the information you are provided
�
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        1      in order to perform that appraisal what type of

        2      documentation do you receive?

        3             A     If it's an existing structure?

        4             Q     Yes.

        5             A     Well, we would ask for building plans,

        6      specifications.  Depending on the age of the property, if

        7      it's a new building, we might want to see what it cost to

        8      construction it.  If it's leased we want copies of leases.

        9      If ....

       10             Q     Would you also request a copy of the agreement

       11      of sale?

       12             A     Yes, that's something that we always request.

       13             Q     And what would -- would the agreement of sale

       14      set forth the sales price?

       15             A     Yes.
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       16             Q     In your professional opinion is that similar to

       17      what occurred here with your looking at the lease and

       18      knowing what the rent is before you did your analysis?

       19             A     Well, in an agreement of sale for bank

       20      financing it would almost always be an arm's length

       21      agreement.

       22             Q     With regard to a built-to-suit structure,

       23      other than the possible cost of the land do the demographics

       24      that Ms. Schurdak referred to, talked to you about, have

       25      anything to the do with the market rent?
�
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        1             A     No, because the construction costs are going to

        2      be the same in almost any part of the country or very

        3      similar.

        4             Q     Do you have an opinion within a reasonable

        5      degree of appraisal certainty as to whether or not what

        6      happened in 2003 as far as the lease between the church and

        7      the charter school -- or 2004 -- has any affect on your

        8      establishing market rent?

        9             A     Yes.  It does not affect.

       10             Q     You were asked quite a bit of questions on

       11      cross examination.  I think it took longer than my direct.

       12      Do any of those questions -- strike that.  You said that

       13      the -- you disregarded these leases in arriving at your

       14      market value.

       15             A     Yes.

       16             Q     So, you, therefore, did not consider as part of

       17      your analysis the leases between the church and the charter

       18      school.

       19             A     Correct.

       20             Q     Was, then, your opinion as to market value

       21      based upon the comparables in relation to the structure of
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       22      the charter school?

       23             A     Yes, as it existed on the date of inspection.

       24             Q     And would USPAP require you to go back and do

       25      an historical valuation before the date of the appraisal?
�
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        1             A     Only to see if the property was transferred in

        2      the past three years.

        3             Q     But would USPAP require you in this instance

        4      to go back and say -- and look at the lease payments that

        5      were being paid by the school to the church three years

        6      earlier?  Is that required by USPAP?

        7             A     No.

        8             Q     All these questions that you were asked about

        9      different things, I forget them all, does any of that change

       10      your opinion as to the market rent of the charter school

       11      facility?

       12             A     No.

       13             Q     And do you hold that opinion within a

       14      reasonable degree of appraisal certainty?

       15             A     Yes.

       16                   MR. ANDERS:  Thank you.

       17                   MR. LITTS:  Do you have any questions based

       18      on --

       19                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I think I have two, believe it

       20      or not.

       21                   MR. LITTS:  Okay.

       22                             - - -

       23      RECROSS EXAMINATION BY MS. SCHURDAK:

       24             Q     Mr. Anders was asking you on redirect about

       25      your work that you do on behalf of lending institutions in
�
                                Tierney - Recross                     1284
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        1      providing appraisals?

        2             A     Yes.

        3             Q     Is it fair for me to say that for the work you

        4      do for lending institutions you're reviewing the value of

        5      the property that's about to be sold for appropriate -- to

        6      establish an appraised value?

        7             A     Yes.

        8             Q     And that's before a closing.

        9             A     Yeah.  Yes, generally.

       10             Q     And in this case you have not done an appraisal

       11      as to the value of the subject property prior to the parties

       12      signing a lease agreement.

       13             A     No.  Yeah, I --

       14             Q     You agree with me.

       15             A     Yeah.

       16             Q     Hopefully my last question for you, sir.

       17      Mr. Anders was asking about playing fields, things like

       18      that.  Are you aware that in the gymnasium portion of the

       19      building that that has been marketed by a separate

       20      not-for-profit entity for use in the community?

       21             A     No, I wasn't aware of that.

       22                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Thank you.

       23                             - - -

       24      BY MR. LITTS:

       25             Q     Mr. Tierney, the folks up here have some
�
                              Tierney - By Mr. Litts                  1285

        1      questions.  I'll start off.  Just so I think myself and the

        2      board is clear for the record, can you just -- and I

        3      apologize -- explain to me in your own words again what was

        4      the purpose of you preparing this report?  Why were you

        5      retained?

        6             A     To establish the market rent for the property
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        7      as of the date of inspection which was September.

        8             Q     And, therefore, and if I'm wrong on this,

        9      please correct me.  You come in, you look at the facility,

       10      you see what -- the condition, the age, how it's fitted out,

       11      all of that stuff.  You have physical inspection, you review

       12      the lease, you review comparables, and you say, "In my

       13      opinion the market rent should be X."

       14             A     Correct.

       15             Q     You weren't retained to analyze the history of

       16      how this school was built and who paid for what and all that

       17      stuff.

       18             A     No.

       19             Q     And, quite frankly, you don't care about that

       20      for purposes of your very limited opinion --

       21             A     Right.

       22             Q     Okay.  If you could turn to your report and

       23      I'll refer to it a couple times here.  On Page 5 of your

       24      report you have a written definition of arm's length.  Do

       25      you see that, sir?
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        1             A     Yes.

        2             Q     Is this a definition that you've created on

        3      your own or is this reference to some legal standard or some

        4      other type of standard?

        5             A     That definition probably comes from the

        6      Appraisal Institute's dictionary.

        7             Q     Based on my recollection of your testimony,

        8      your testimony was slightly different and you did not refer

        9      to under no duress.  What significance do those words,

       10      under no duress, within that definition of arm's length --

       11      can you explain to me why that's significant or ...?
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       12             A     Well, if someone has a property and the bank

       13      tells them they need to sell it because they're not paying

       14      their mortgage and they sell it for less than market value

       15      just to get rid of it, that would be a sale under duress.

       16             Q     And, similarly, I guess, maybe this would be

       17      different or not, if two people sold a property at an overly

       18      inflated price for some strange reason would that come

       19      within that context as well or ...?

       20             A     Well, I don't know that they'd be under duress,

       21      but they'd probably have some ulterior motive.

       22             Q     I'm just trying to understand what you mean by

       23      the term under no duress and I think you answered my

       24      question.

       25                   If you could turn to Page 296 your of your
�
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        1      report and in the last sentence of the second paragraph it

        2      states "To estimate the market rent at the subject property

        3      we have compiled lease data from various schools and office

        4      buildings with which we are familiar."  My question to you,

        5      sir, specifically with regards to charter schools what data

        6      did you compile or try to compile with regards to charter

        7      schools in preparing this report?

        8             A     Well, I looked for lease data on charter

        9      schools.  It's limited.  The property on Page 34 is a

       10      charter school.

       11             Q     But in trying to find leases, did you just --

       12      is there a data base, that you simply refer to your own

       13      business records, and what -- what would you look for?

       14             A     We talk to other appraisers, ask them if they

       15      have appraised properties, charter school properties or

       16      school properties, and if they were leased and they provide

       17      information.
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       18             Q     Did you make any attempt to contact any charter

       19      school associations in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania?

       20             A     No.

       21             Q     Were you aware at the time that you prepared

       22      this report that there were more charter schools in

       23      Pennsylvania than has been identified in the report?

       24             A     Oh, yes.

       25             Q     And were you aware at the time of the report
�
                              Tierney - By Mr. Litts                  1288

        1      that there were charter schools in Luzerne and Lackawanna

        2      County?

        3             A     I'm sure there are.

        4             Q     But were you aware of that fact?

        5             A     I can't say that I was aware of the charter

        6      schools, I would only imagine that there would be, but the

        7      lease data may not be available in certain areas.

        8             Q     And specifically what I'm thinking of is

        9      Bear Creek Community Charter School and Federal Charter

       10      School, those counties, so ....

       11                   And if I'm reading your comps correctly --

       12      we start at Page 30 in the report -- you found other than

       13      the subject school three charter schools; Pocono School of

       14      Excellence, Propel Charter School, and Village Charter

       15      School.  Is that correct?

       16             A     Yes, it appears --

       17             Q     Okay.  And out of those three charter schools

       18      only two of them are located in Pennsylvania.

       19             A     Correct.

       20             Q     And understanding your earlier testimony about

       21      the challenges of trying to find comps, would you agree with

       22      me, sir, that Propel is several hundred miles away from the

Page 80



18MR10A1
       23      subject school in Allegheny County; is that correct?

       24             A     Yes, but, like I said, the cost of construction

       25      of the buildings would be similar throughout -- at least
�
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        1      throughout this part of the country.

        2             Q     Well, are you familiar, sir, with the laws and

        3      provisions that public schools have to comply with when

        4      constructing facilities?

        5             A     No, I'm not familiar with those.

        6             Q     So, you're not familiar with the competitive

        7      bidding requirements?

        8             A     Only vaguely.

        9             Q     You're not familiar with the fact that in

       10      certain instances they have to maintain or arrange for

       11      multiple prime contractors?

       12             A     I'm not entirely familiar.

       13             Q     Are you familiar with the Pennsylvania's

       14      prevailing wage law?

       15             A     Somewhat.

       16             Q     And you understand that each county has to

       17      certify different wages for certain workers?

       18             A     Yes.  But, I mean, if you look at a -- any of

       19      the recently built schools and if you -- you know, whether

       20      it's up here or down in the Lehigh Valley and you look at

       21      what it costs to construct them they -- if they had to go

       22      and get a mortgage on those buildings in the open market

       23      with an 80 percent mortgage and pay prevailing interest

       24      rates and terms how much would they need to charge in rent

       25      to pay their mortgage?  You see?  I mean, that's sort of
�
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        1      what I look at when I see ....

        2             Q     Yeah.  The reason for my question was is if I
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        3      heard your testimony correctly you said construction costs

        4      are basically the same or in the same ballpark and that's

        5      why I asked those questions.

        6                   For the comparable school leases, which are on

        7      Pages 30 through 40 of your report, how many of these

        8      landlords were a for-profit versus not-for-profit entities,

        9      if you know?

       10             A     Well, I would say that these were for-profit

       11      landlords.

       12             Q     And with regards to the three charter schools,

       13      which are at Pages 30, 34, and 35 that you used for

       14      comparisons, did you personally obtain a copy of the leases

       15      and inspect them?

       16             A     No, I didn't inspect them, but we do have

       17      copies of leases for probably four or five of these.

       18             Q     But specifically I'm asking about the charter

       19      schools.  So, Page 30, Pocono School of Excellence, do you

       20      have a copy of the lease?

       21             A     Yes, we do have a copy of the lease.

       22             Q     And Page 34, Propel Charter School, do you have

       23      a copy of the lease?

       24             A     I don't think --

       25             Q     And then Page --
�
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        1                   MS. SCHURDAK:  What was that answer, no or I

        2      don't know?

        3             A     I -- we have a lot of leases in the office and

        4      I'm trying to recall which ones we have and which ones we

        5      have lease data.  I mean, if we got this information from

        6      another appraiser he probably has the copy and sometimes

        7      they send it over -- a copy of the entire agreement or
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        8      sometimes they only send --

        9             Q     So, the answer on Propel, which is on Page 34,

       10      is no, you don't have a copy of the lease.

       11             A     I don't think so.

       12             Q     And then Page 35, Village Charter School, do

       13      you have a copy of that lease?

       14             A     No.

       15             Q     The reason I'm asking, sir, is if you don't

       16      have a copy of the lease then you wouldn't be familiar with

       17      the terms and whether there was a fit out allowance or there

       18      was a usage restriction or anything like that.

       19             A     We could have that information without having

       20      the entire lease.

       21             Q     Well, I'm -- that's why I'm asking the

       22      question.  Well, do you have that information for those

       23      three charter schools that I just asked you about?

       24             A     Yes, I believe I do have information.

       25             Q     Well, then, let's start on Page 30 with the
�
                              Tierney - By Mr. Litts                  1292

        1      Pocono School of Excellence.  At the time you prepared this

        2      report were you familiar with the terms of the lease that

        3      you discussed in report?

        4             A     Well, we have a copy of the lease and the --

        5      I believe the tenant paid for the fit out.

        6             Q     Okay.  How about use restrictions?

        7             A     Use restrictions.  I would doubt that there

        8      were use restrictions.

        9             Q     All right.  If you turn to Page 34, Propel

       10      Charter School, and I believe you testified you didn't have

       11      a copy of the lease, do you know if there was any fit out

       12      allowance with regards to this lease?

       13             A     I'm not aware.
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       14             Q     Are you aware if there was any usage

       15      restriction with regards to this lease?

       16             A     No, I can't say that I'm aware of any.

       17             Q     And on Page 35, the Village Charter School in

       18      Mercer County, New Jersey, were you aware if there was any

       19      fit out allowance as part of this lease?

       20             A     I'm not aware of a fit out allowance.

       21             Q     And were you aware if there was any restriction

       22      on usage in that lease?

       23             A     Well, I know that this building is on a

       24      property with other buildings.  There may or may not be.

       25             Q     Okay.  Like I said, I'm just -- the board has
�
                              Tierney - By Mr. Smith                  1293

        1      to try to understand.  There's been other testimony that

        2      doesn't necessarily concern you, but just trying to under-

        3      stand some of the facts for each of these things.  So ....

        4                   MR. LITTS:  I think that's the questions I

        5      have, but the board members may have some questions.

        6                             - - -

        7      BY MR. SMITH:

        8             Q     I have a two-part question, actually.  Under

        9      the rules of appraisal that you follow are you allowed to

       10      disregard any comparable properties that don't fit the price

       11      values that you're finding in other properties?  In other

       12      words, if you have an outlier are you allowed to disregard

       13      that?

       14             A     Are we allowed to disregard it?

       15             Q     Yeah.

       16             A     Yeah, if it's -- if we feel that it's not

       17      comparable or not sufficiently comparable.

       18             Q     Let's say that the property is comparable but
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       19      for some unknown reason they're only paying half of what

       20      anyone else is paying.  Would you still factor that into

       21      your comp rate or do you disregard it?

       22             A     Well, in that type of situation we try and find

       23      out what the reason was for and in some cases -- like some

       24      of these lease rates are older.  You know, if you look at

       25      the charter schools back in 2000, this lease rate at 15.74.
�
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        1      If that lease rate was signed in 2008 it'd probably be

        2      higher and the same goes for the other buildings that the

        3      leases were signed ....

        4             Q     Did you use that in your calculation?

        5             A     In my consideration, yes.

        6             Q     Even though it was old and outdated?

        7             A     Well, that's what you would adjust for.

        8      Adjustments are made for time, for condition, for location

        9      in every appraisal.

       10             Q     When you started your search you obviously had

       11      a list of properties or you got a list of comparables that

       12      you wanted to find and get information on.

       13             A     Yeah.  Well ....

       14             Q     Yes?

       15             A     Basically.

       16             Q     And when you set out then and gathered the

       17      information on those properties were there any that you

       18      disregarded?

       19             A     Lease agreement information?  The only ones

       20      that were disregarded were ones where the information, the

       21      direct information of the lease, was not verifiable.

       22                   MR. SMITH:  That's it.

       23                             - - -

       24      BY MR. BOCKELMAN:
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       25             Q     Attorney Litts got most of my questions.
�
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        1      The only question I have is do you know if the charter

        2      school has any athletic teams?

        3                   MR. ANDERS:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear the

        4      question.

        5             Q     Do you know if the charter school has any

        6      athletic teams?

        7             A     Yeah, I'm not sure.

        8                   MR. BOCKELMAN:  Thank you.

        9                   MR. LITTS:  Obviously, there may be some

       10      questions from Counsel based on the board's questions.  So,

       11      Mr. Anders, do you have any follow-up questions?

       12                             - - -

       13      REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ANDERS:

       14             Q     As opposed to simply identifying a charter

       15      school and performing your analysis did you have to obtain

       16      the lease information?

       17             A     Yes.

       18             Q     And was that, in fact, critical to your

       19      analysis?

       20             A     Yes.

       21             Q     And you were asked about other charter schools

       22      and you referred to certain pages of your report.  I believe

       23      you earlier testified that after you completed your report

       24      you found other schools.

       25             A     Yes.
�
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        1             Q     And were those charter schools?

        2             A     Several were charter schools, yes.

        3             Q     And --
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        4                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm going to object to any

        5      testimony regarding valuations with respect to charter

        6      schools this witness found after this report and did not

        7      amend his report.

        8                   MR. LITTS:  Well, understanding the preemptive

        9      objection, at this point, if I understand Mr. Anders'

       10      question correctly, he's simply asking after the preparation

       11      of this report did he obtain leases for other charter

       12      schools.

       13                   MR. ANDERS:  That's correct.

       14                   MR. LITTS:  And I heard the answer was yes.

       15      But, Miss Schurdak would have a point to the extent that

       16      we're now amending this report.  We need to be cautious of

       17      that.  So, I'll overrule the objection at this point, but --

       18      this is the report we got, so if there was additional -- a

       19      supplemental report or addendum report we may have a

       20      different discussion, but you can proceed with your

       21      questions, sir.

       22             Q     You were asked about charter schools in the

       23      report.

       24             A     Yes.

       25             Q     Are all of the comparables in the report
�
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        1      built-to-suit structures?

        2             A     The ones that I analyzed, yes.

        3             Q     And, finally, sir, did any of the questions

        4      that members of the board or Mr. Litts ask you change your

        5      opinion as to the market rent that you established in your

        6      report?

        7             A     No.

        8                   MR. ANDERS:  Thank you.

        9                   MR. LITTS:  Miss Schurdak?
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       10                             - - -

       11      RECROSS EXAMINATION BY MS. SCHURDAK:

       12             Q     I do have a couple of questions.  I'm getting a

       13      little bit confused.  With the comps that are on the -- the

       14      first comp on Page 34 -- strike that.  You personally did

       15      not review the lease agreement.

       16             A     For which one?

       17             Q     For the Propel West School, Montour S.D.

       18      Charter School.

       19                   MR. LITTS:  I believe that's Page 34.

       20             A     No, I don't recall having the actual lease

       21      agreement.

       22             Q     So, when Mr. Anders asked you the question,

       23      was this a built-to-suit property --

       24             A     Oh, I have information on the property and

       25      information on the lease, I just don't have the actual
�
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        1      lease.

        2             Q     Would you agree with me that the best evidence

        3      would be the lease agreement itself?

        4             A     Yes, it would be the best evidence.

        5             Q     And you relied on a third party summarizing

        6      things for you.

        7             A     Right, and that would be the case in most sales

        8      when you see an appraisal report.  Most of the time you

        9      don't have the actual agreement of sale, you have

       10      information provided by the broker that sold the property,

       11      you have information by the property owners, and public

       12      records.  So, it's typical.

       13             Q     Okay.  But on some of these you do have the

       14      underlying lease agreement.
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       15             A     Yes.

       16             Q     And you would prefer to have that document.

       17             A     Yes.

       18             Q     More thorough.  And, likewise, for the comp on

       19      Page 35 in your report located in the -- the charter

       20      school's located in New Jersey, you did not have the benefit

       21      of the lease agreement.

       22             A     No.

       23             Q     And had to rely on summaries of third parties.

       24             A     Right.

       25             Q     Is that a metal roof on top of that, Page 35,
�
                            Tierney - Recross/Redirect                1299

        1      on that school?

        2             A     I think that portion is.  I think that portion

        3      is.  I don't think the rest of it is.

        4             Q     Does that --

        5             A     There's a --

        6             Q     Does that add to the fair market rental value?

        7                   MR. ANDERS:  Objection.  This is beyond the

        8      scope of the board's questions.

        9                   MR. LITTS:  I'll sustain the objection.

       10                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Nothing further.

       11                   MR. LITTS:  Anything else?  No?

       12                   MR. ANDERS:  I just have one question.

       13                   MR. LITTS:  Sure.

       14                             - - -

       15      REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ANDERS:

       16             Q     Sir, in your experience as an appraiser, in

       17      performing appraisals do you rely on oral information that

       18      is provided to you by other people in the industry be it

       19      appraisers, brokers, things of that nature?

       20             A     Oh, yes, all the time, oral and written
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       21      information.

       22                   MR. ANDERS:  Thank you.

       23                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Tierney, unless --

       24                   MS. SCHURDAK:  One second.

       25                   MR. LITTS:  Better be related to what he just
�
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        1      asked.

        2                   MS. SCHURDAK:  It is.

        3                             - - -

        4      RECROSS EXAMINATION BY MS. SCHURDAK:

        5             Q     Information you find that you gather from real

        6      estate brokers is helpful, isn't it?

        7             A     It is helpful.

        8                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Thank you.

        9                   MR. LITTS:  All right.  Mr. Tierney, thank you

       10      for your patience and your testimony.  Is there any reason

       11      why this witness shouldn't be excused?

       12                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I see no reason.

       13                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Tierney, thank you very much.

       14      Mr. Anders, if you haven't asked already I'm assuming C --

       15                   MR. ANDERS:  I thought I did, but if I

       16      didn't --

       17                   MR. LITTS:  If not, Charter School 11 and 12

       18      have both been admitted into evidence and, thank you, sir.

       19      The charter school can call its next witness.

       20                   MR. ANDERS:  Can we have a five minute break?

       21                   (Recess from 1:56 p.m. to 2:22 p.m.)

       22                   MR. LITTS:  I have spoken to Counsel and a

       23      number of witnesses Mr. Fennick was prepared to start direct

       24      testimony with are not available this afternoon and in light

       25      of the hour, 2:20, and the fact that we do not have one
�
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                                                                      1301

        1      witness who's ready we just decided to start afresh at

        2      10:00 a.m.

        3                   So, the hearing is in recess and we'll

        4      reconvene on Friday, March 19th, at 10 o'clock a.m.

        5                             - - -

        6                   (Whereupon, the above adjourned at 2:22 o'clock

        7      p.m. on Thursday, March 18, 2010.)
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        1

        2                   C E R T I F I C A T I O N

        3                     I, Donna G. Kenderdine, R.P.R., do hereby

        4      certify that the foregoing was taken stenographically by me

        5      on March 18, 2010, and that this transcript is a true and
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        6      correct transcript of the same, fully transcribed under my

        7      direction, to the best of my ability and skill.

        8                     I further certify that I am not a relative or

        9      employee of any of the parties in this action; that I am not

       10      a relative or employee of any attorney in this action; and

       11      that I am not financially interested in the event of this

       12      action.

       13

       14                          ______________________________
                                   Donna G. Kenderdine, R.P.R.
       15                          Notary Public
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